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Corporate Information

NGRS

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Shen Xiaowei (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 7 August 2018 and
appointed as Chief Executive Officer on
23 July 2020)

Mr. Zhu Yonggiu
(appointed on 7 August 2018)

Ms. Cai Qiaoling
(appointed on 7 August 2018)

Mr. Zhou Chen
(re-designated as Executive Director on
7 August 2018)

Mr. Shu Cewan
(appointed as Chairman on 19 June 2019 and
resigned on 23 July 2020)

Mr. Shu Cecheng (Chairman)
(resigned on 19 June 2019)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wang Wei
(resigned on 25 June 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Song Ming

Prof. Shu Guoying

Mr. Liu Chaodong
(appointed on 7 August 2018)

Mr. Zhou Chen
(re-designated to Executive Director on
7 August 2018)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Li Yuen Shan
(appointed on 13 January 2020)
Mr. Yeung Chi Lung
(appointed on 30 June 2018 and
resigned on 13 January 2020)
Mr. Yau Chi Kuen
(appointed on 1 May 2018 and
resigned on 30 June 2018)
Mr. Cheung Man Hoi
(resigned on 1 May 2018)
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Corporate Information (continued)
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AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Shen Xiaowei
(appointed on 23 July 2020)
Mr. Zhou Chen
(appointed on 30 June 2018)
Mr. Yau Chi Kuen
(appointed on 1 May 2018 and resigned on
30 June 2018)
Mr. Cheung Man Hoi
(resigned on 1 May 2018)
Mr. Shu Cewan
(appointed on 19 June 2019 and
resigned on 23 July 2020)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Liu Chaodong (Committee Chairman)
(appointed on 7 August 2018)

Dr. Song Ming

Prof. Shu Guoying

Mr. Zhou Chen
(resigned on 7 August 2018)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Song Ming (Committee Chairman)
Prof. Shu Guoying
Mr. Shu Cewan

(resigned on 23 July 2020)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Prof. Shu Guoying (Committee Chairman)
(appointed as Committee Chairman on
3 August 2020)

Dr. Song Ming

Mr. Liu Chaodong
(appointed on 7 August 2018)

Mr. Shu Cewan

(appointed on 19 June 2019 and resigned on

23 July 2020)
Mr. Shu Cecheng

(resigned on 19 June 2019)
Mr. Zhou Chen

(resigned on 7 August 2018)
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Corporate Information (continued)

NEER @

AUDITOR

Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Xiamen International Bank

LEGAL ADVISORS

As to Hong Kong Law

Raymond Siu & Lawyers

As to PRC Law
DeHeng Law Offices

As to Cayman Islands Law

Conyers Dill & Pearman
REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 1802, 18/F
Ruttonjee House
Ruttonjee Centre
11 Duddell Street
Central

Hong Kong
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Corporate Information (continued)

NEER @

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS IN PEOPLE'S
REPUBLIC OF CHINA

19th Floor

Wuzhou International Columbus Plaza Tower B
287 Guangyi Road

Wuxi

China

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen'’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

LISTING INFORMATION

Share Listing

The Company'’s ordinary shares
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Code: 01369

Senior Notes Listing

The Company's 13.75%, 5 years senior notes due 2018

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock code: 05970

WEBSITE

http://www.wz-china.com
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWmE D

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company was
experiencing a string of financial woes as a result of breach of
several payment obligations and earlier defaults.

On 4 July 2018, the Company announced, among other things,
that (i) an event of default had occurred and was continuing
under the indenture agreement dated 26 September 2013 for
the issuance of the US$300 million 13.75% Senior Notes Due
2018 (the “Notes”), (i) the Group has defaulted on repayments
of certain outstanding loans and received notices from its
creditors demanding early repayment or declaring certain loans
to be immediately due and payable, and (iii) certain creditors
had initiated legal proceedings against the Company and/or its
subsidiaries in the PRC.

Further to the announcement dated 4 July 2018, the Company
has announced on 10 August 2018 that the amount of principal
repayments which the Group has defaulted on and/or has
received notices from its creditors demanding early repayments
by reason of breach of payment obligations under the loan
agreements has increased to approximately RMB2.5 billion. The
Group has further received court documents in respect of six
legal actions commenced by creditors in the PRC against,
amongst others, the Company and/or its subsidiaries for
repayment of loans. In addition, the Company has appointed
RSM Corporate Advisory (Hong Kong) Limited as its
Independent Restructuring Adviser (“IRA”) to assist the
Company in assessing the financial position of the Company
and evaluating its options and to work towards a mutually
acceptable restructuring solution for its creditors.

The Company was not in a position to settle those financial
liabilities which have fallen due and are immediately payable
and it is anticipated that more financial liabilities will become
immediately due and payable. On 13 August 2018, the
Company announced that it had suspended seven projects
under construction or in operation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWRED N @

In addition to the eleven legal proceedings and claims
previously announced, on 23 August 2018, the Company further
announced that it has received a civil ruling issued by Jiangsu
Province Wuxi Municipal Intermediate People’s Court where
creditors have filed for property preservation order against the
Company's subsidiaries and an Enforcement Ruling issued by
Chengdu Railway Transport Intermediate Court for immediate
repayment of loan amount of RMB368 million.

On 17 September 2018, the Company announced that it has
established a special investigation committee to investigate
certain suspected transfers of equity interest of subsidiaries
which had not been approved by the Board (the “Suspected
Unapproved Transfers”). Subsequently, an independent advisor
was engaged to perform an independent review on the
Suspected Unapproved Transfers.

On 4 October 2018, the Company also announced that it failed
to repay the principal in the aggregate sum of RMB395.5 million
and the interest in the aggregate sum of RMB111 million for a
portion of the second tranche of the RMB1.5 billion 2016
corporate bonds on 19 September 2018. In addition, it was
unable to pay all the principal in the aggregate sum of RMB
billion and the interest in the aggregate sum of RMB50.6 million
on 20 September 2018 for the first tranche of 2017 bonds sold
by its indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary, Wuxi Wuzhou
International Ornament City Co., Ltd.* (&5 FMBIPR & &R E
R A F]) (“Wuxi Wuzhou International Ornament City”). A joint
venture partner had applied for arbitration to repurchase the
equity interest for RMB126.3 million and seek RMB35.8 million
payment for damages. Other than the above, the Company was
due to appear in the Higher People’s Court of Ningxia Hui
autonomous region, where a creditor has demanded the
Company to repay about RMB167.8 million in loan and RMB8.9
million in interest accrued up to 27 August 2018. Moreover, the
Company was also required to attend the hearing in the
Intermediate People’s Court of Ningxia for the repayment of
another loan of RMB13.3 million and interest of RMB170,800
owed to another creditor. Another bank has also demanded a
loan and interest repayment in the sum of RMB291.1 million and
RMB2.5 million respectively. Please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 4 July 2018, 10 August 2018, 13 August
2018, 23 August 2018, 17 September 2018 and 4 October 2018
for further details.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWED N @

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Our revenue is derived from sale of properties, rental income,
commercial and property management service income and
property consulting service income after deduction of
allowances for returns and trade discounts.

Revenue decreased by RMB445 million from RMB3,546 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017 to RMB3,101 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018. The decrease in revenue
was due to the decrease in revenue of all business segments.

Sale of properties

Revenue from sale of properties represents proceeds from sales
of our properties held for sales. Revenue derived from sales of
properties decreased by 12.4% to RMB2,778 million in the year
ended 31 December 2018 as compared to RMB3,172 million in
the year ended 31 December 2017. This decrease was the
combined effects of the decrease in total gross floor area
("GFA") sold and average selling price as a result of weak
demand for commercial properties.

Rental income

Rental income generated from rental of investment properties
increased by 11.3% to RMB118 million in the financial year
ended 31 December 2018 as compared to RMB106 million in
the financial year ended 31 December 2017. The increase was
mainly due to decrease in space rented out during the year
under review.

Commercial and property management service income

Commercial and property management service income
decreased by RMB41 million to RMB131 million in the year
ended 31 December 2018 as compared to RMB172 million in
the year ended 31 December 2017. The decrease was mainly
due to expiration of several service contracts.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWRED N @

Property consulting service income

Property consulting service income decreased by RMB24 million
to RMB34 million in the year ended 31 December 2018 as
compared to RMB58 million in the year ended 31 December
2017. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in business
volume during the year under review.

Gross Profit and Margin

Gross profit increased by RMB218 million to RMB901 million in
the year ended 31 December 2018 as compared to RMB683
million in the year ended 31 December 2017. The increase in
gross profit during the year under review was mainly due to a
substantial decrease in the construction costs. Notwithstanding
the increase in gross profit, gross profit margin increased to
29.1% in the year ended 31 December 2018 as compared to
19.3% in the year ended 31 December 2017. The increase in
gross profit margin was the net effects of lower construction
costs and change in product mix.

Other Income

Other income decreased by RMB214 million to RMB42 million
in the year ended 31 December 2018 as compared to RMB256
million in the year ended 31 December 2017. The decrease in
other income was mainly due to the absence of gain on disposal
of investments at fair value through profit or loss, change in fair
value of derivative financial instruments, change in fair value of
investments at fair value through profit or loss, foreign exchange
gain and gain on disposal of subsidiaries of the Group in the
year ended 31 December 2018 as compared to the year ended
31 December 2017. Other income recorded in the year ended
31 December 2018 comprised of subsidy income, interest
income, gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWED N @

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses decreased by RMB47 million
or 17.3% from RMB271 million in the year ended 31 December
2017 to RMB224 million in the financial year ended 31
December 2018 which was mainly due to a decrease in general
selling, marketing and advertising activities during the year
under review.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased by RMB78 million from
RMB329 million in the year ended 31 December 2017 to
RMB407 million in the year ended 31 December 2018 which was
mainly due to an increase in bad debts written-off during the
year under review.

Other Expenses

There are no other expenses recorded in the year ended 31
December 2018.

Finance Costs

Finance costs increased by RMB206 million from RMB814
million in the year ended 31 December 2017 to RMB1,020
million in the year ended 31 December 2018 which was mainly
due to an increase in interest on borrowings as a result of late
payment interest during the financial year under review.

Income Tax Expenses

The income tax expenses increased by RMB12 million from
RMB296 million in the year ended 31 December 2017 to
RMB308 million in the year ended 31 December 2018 which was
mainly due to an increase in corporate income tax.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWRED N @

Loss for The Year Attributable to Owners of The
Company

The Group recorded a substantial loss of RMB4,216 million in
the year ended 31 December 2018 as compared to a loss of
RMB517 million in the year ended 31 December 2017. The
increase in losses was mainly due to the combined effects of the
decreases in revenue which resulted in the increase in
administrative expenses, finance costs, fair value loss of
investment properties, fair value loss of investments, impairment
loss on various assets and loss on disposal of subsidiaries.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Contracted Sales

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group recorded
contracted sales and contracted sales area of RMB2,778 million
and 352,273 sg.m., representing a decrease of 12.4% and 43.5%
respectively as compared to the year ended 31 December 2017
(2017: RMB3,172 million; 623,000 sg.m.).

Project development

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 14 development
projects in Jiangsu, Zhejiang, Shandong, Hubei, Heilongjiang,
Jilin, Henan, Liaoning, Chongqging and Fujian, including 13
trade logistics centers, 1 multi-functional commercial complexes
and residential projects.

Completed projects

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
completed a total of 18 projects or project phases with a GFA
of approximately 5,583,333 sq.m., including approximately
3,346,399 sg.m. of GFA sold and delivered and approximately
396,989 sq.m. of GFA held for lease.

Projects under development

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a total of 14 projects or
project phases under development with a total planned GFA of
984,308 sg.m., including GFA of approximately 299,588 sqg.m.
pre-sold and approximately 684,720 sq.m. of GFA held for
lease.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWED N @

Projects planned for future developments

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a total of 14 projects or
project phases planned for future development, with a total
planned GFA of approximately 2,146,331 sg.m.

Land Bank

The Group considers that acquisition of ample land bank at
reasonable costs is crucial to the long-term development and
profitability of the Company. The Group carried out in-depth
studies on local urban planning and acquired lands of
substantial development potential in order to build new
commercial areas and design projects in line with market
demand. During the year under review, the Group was
committed to securing a land bank at the regions we operate,
while actively exploring and developing other regions, allowing
the Group to expand its land bank nationwide.

As of 31 December 2018, the total planned GFA of land bank
amounted to approximately 2,146,331 sq.m..

Centralised Operation, Management and Marketing

Most of the purchasers of our retail stores entered into exclusive
operation and management agreements with the Group,
pursuant to which the Group received management service
income from the purchasers for managing the leases of the
retail shops, event organization and ancillary service provision.
The Group also provided the purchasers with services such as
project positioning, planning, design, construction, planning
and marketing, leasing and operation so as to ensure the
centralized operation of projects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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The Group develops and operates its trade logistics centers
and multi-functional commercial complexes under the brands of
"Wuzhou International” and “Columbus”. In order to unify the
brand image of its trade logistics centers and multi-functional
commercial complexes, its professional planning and marketing
team is responsible for formulating the nationwide promotion
strategies and coordinating marketing activities. During the year
under review, both the brand effect and visitor flow of its trade
logistics centers and multi-functional commercial complexes
recorded significant growth attributable to various marketing
and promotion activities and sponsorship for a number of
activities. Moreover, asset management, construction, design
and operation capability of the Group were highly recognized
in the industry. As a result, the brands “Wuzhou International”
and “Columbus” were well-received in those places where the
Group operates.

Future Prospects

Upon completion of the Group’s restructuring, the Group is
expected to have a business with sufficient assets and
sustainable profits.

Liquidity, Financial and Capital Resources
Cash Position

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s bank balances and cash
(including restricted cash and pledged deposits) was RMB533
million (2017: RMB1,855 million), representing a decrease of
71.3% as compared to that as at 31 December 2017. A portion
of our cash are restricted bank deposits that are restricted for
use of property development. The restricted bank deposits will
be released upon completion of the development of the
relevant properties in which such deposits relate to. As at 31
December 2018, the Group's restricted cash was RMB131
million (2017: 165 million), representing a decrease of 20.6% as
compared to that as at 31 December 2017.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Current Ratio and Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2018, the current ratio of the Group (being
current assets over current liabilities) was 0.66 compared to that
of 0.82 as at 31 December 2017. The gearing ratio was 107.6%
as at 31 December 2018 compared to that of 86.7% as at 31
December 2017. The gearing ratio was calculated by net debts
(aggregating interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
corporate bonds, senior and convertible notes, trade and bills
payables, other payables and accruals and contract liabilities
net of cash and cash equivalents) over the total capital of the
Group plus net debts. The total debt (aggregating interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, corporate bonds, senior
and convertible notes) over total assets ratio was 49.2% as at 31
December 2018 compared to that of 45.1% as at 31 December
2017.

Borrowings and Charges on The Group's Assets

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had an aggregate interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, senior and convertible
notes and corporate bonds of RMB3.7 billion (2017: RMB5.6
billion) and RMB5.7 billion (2017: RMB5.6 billion), respectively.
Amongst the interest bearing bank and other borrowings,
RMB2.5 billion (2017: RMB3.2 billion) will be repayable within 1
year, RMB992 million (2017: RMB2.0 billion) will be repayable
between 2 to 5 years and RMB233 million (2017: RMB314
million) will be repayable after 5 years. The senior notes are
repayable within 1 year and convertible notes are redeemable
on or after 30 September 2017. Amongst the corporate bonds,
RMB2.0 billion (2017: RMB1.9 billion) are repayable within 1 year
and RMB1.1 billion (2017: RMB1.1 billion) are repayable
between 2 to 5 years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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As at 31 December 2018, a substantial part of the interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings were secured by land use
rights and properties of the Group. The senior and convertible
notes were jointly and severally guaranteed by certain
subsidiaries of the Group and secured by pledge of their shares.
The interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and corporate
bonds were denominated in RMB while the senior and
convertible notes were denominated in U.S. Dollar.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company
announced that it has defaulted its senior and convertible notes
and corporate bonds. Please refer to the Company's
announcements dated 7 July 2018, 10 August 2018, 23 August
2018, 24 August 2018, 21 September 2018 and 4 October 2018
for details.

Exchange Rate Risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC. Other than the foreign
currency denominated bank deposits, bank borrowings, senior
and convertible notes, the Group does not have any other
material direct exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations. To
mitigate foreign exchange exposure for the purpose of
minimising adverse effect on the operation of the Group, the
Group continues to adopt a conservative approach and will
closely monitor the foreign currency market and actively explore
the domestic capital market for financing opportunities.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had committed payment
for properties under development amounting to RMB3.0 billion
(2017: RMB2.0 billion) and the Group did not have committed
payment for the acquisitions of land use rights (2017: RMB130
million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had (i) the share of a joint
venture’s contingent liabilities of RMB23 million (2017: RMB23
million) arising from litigations, details of which are set out in
notes 22 and 44 to the consolidated financial statements; and (ii)
provided guarantees amounting to RMB2.7 billion (2017:
RMB1.5 billion) in respect of mortgage facilities granted by
certain banks in connection with the mortgage loans entered
into by purchasers of the Group’s properties. Pursuant to the
terms of the guarantees, if there is default of the mortgage
payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to
repay the outstanding mortgage loan together with accrued
interests thereon and any penalty owed by the defaulted
purchasers to banks. The Group is then entitled to take over the
legal title of the relevant properties. The guarantee period
commences from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgages
loans and ends after the purchaser obtained the individual
property ownership certificate. In the opinion of the Directors,
no provision for the guarantee contracts was recognised in the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 as
the default risk is low.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had approximately 1,147
employees, of which 843 employees are involved in the property
development sector and 304 employees are involved in the
property operation services sector. Total staff costs (including
Directors’ emoluments) for the year ended 31 December 2018
amounted to RMB147 million (2017: RMB217 million).
Remuneration is determined with reference to the performance,
skills, qualifications and experiences of the staff concerned and
according to the prevailing industry practice. Besides salary
payments, other staff benefits include contribution to the
mandatory provident fund (for Hong Kong employees) and
state-managed retirement pension scheme (for PRC
employees), a discretionary bonus program and a share option
scheme.
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Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

The Directors have pleasure in presenting the annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as a discussion
and analysis of the Group's performance during the year as
required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an
indication of likely future development in the Group's business
can be found in the sections headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report” of this
annual report. These discussions form part of this Directors’

report.
RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on pages 82 and 83.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 220 of
this annual report.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 39
to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of movements in the share options of the Company are
set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in
on page 86 and note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2018, the Company had no reserves available
for distribution under the provisions of the Companies Law (as
revised) of the Cayman islands (2017: Nil).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to approximately
RMB26,500 (2017: approximately RMB532,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in
note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURE AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries, joint venture
and associates are set out in notes 49, 22 and 23 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
EEgREw

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Shen Xiaowei (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 7 August 2018 and
appointed as Chief Executive Director on
23 July 2020)

Mr. Zhu Yonggiu
(appointed on 7 August 2018)

Ms. Cai Qiaoling
(appointed on 7 August 2018)

Mr. Zhou Chen
(re-designated as executive Director on
7 August 2018)

Mr. Shu Cecheng
(resigned on 19 June 2019)

Mr. Shu Cewan
(appointed as Chairman on 19 June 2019 and
resigned on 23 July 2020)

Non-executive director:

Mr. Wang Wei
(resigned on 25 June 2018)

Independent non-executive directors:

Dr. Song Ming

Prof. Shu Guoying

Mr. Liu Chaodong
(appointed on 7 August 2018)

Mr. Zhou Chen
(re-designated to executive Director on
7 August 2018)

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at annual
general meetings of the Company in accordance with the
Company's articles of association (the “Articles of Association”).
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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In accordance with Article 104(a) of the Articles of Association,
Dr. Song Ming and Prof. Shu Guoying will retire by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“Annual General Meeting”) and, being eligible, have offered
themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting.

In accordance with Article 99(c) of the Articles of Association,
any Director appointed by the Board after the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 1 June 2018 will retire at the
Annual General Meeting. Accordingly, Mr. Shen Xiaowei, Mr.
Zhu Yonggiu, Ms. Cai Qiaoling, Mr. Zhou Chen and Mr. Liu
Chaodong will retire from office and, being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election at the Annual General
Meeting.

A circular containing, inter alia, the biographical details of the
Directors proposed to be re-elected at the Annual General
Meeting and the notice of the Annual General Meeting will be
sent to Shareholders of the Company.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”). The Company considers all the independent
non-executive Directors meet the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules for assessing independence.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Shen Xiaowei, Mr. Zhu Yonggiu, Ms. Cai Qiaocling
and Mr. Zhou Chen, the executive Directors, entered into a
service contract with the Company for a specific term of three
years commencing from 7 August 2018. Each of Mr. Shu
Cecheng and Mr. Shu Cewan, the executive Directors, entered
into a service contract with the Company for a specific term of
three years commencing from 18 May 2016.

Mr. Liu Chaodong, an independent non-executive Directors,
entered into a service contract with the Company for a specific
term of three years commencing from 7 August 2018. Each of
Dr. Song Ming and Prof. Shu Guoying, the independent non-
executive Directors, entered into a service contract with the
Company for a specific term of three years commencing from
18 May 2016.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at annual general meetings of the Company in
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

No Director proposed for re-election at the Annual General
Meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than normal statutory compensation.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As of 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or of any associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO")), which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange") pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO) or which were required, to be entered in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
were as follows:
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() Long positions in the Shares and underlying (i) MREOREEROGHETFE
Shares
Approximate
percentage
to the issued
Name of Number of Interest in Shares as at
Director/ Long/Short issued Shares underlying 31 December
Chief Executive  position Nature of interest held Shares 2018
H=T-N\F
+=-HA=+—H
EE IE e &7 RiEERSE ERTROHN
THABHEA B/ KB ERME R EE MR BAEsH
Mr. Shu Cecheng  Long position Interest of controlled 1,059,340,000 = 21.23%
corporation®
R LA e RESEEEEO 1,059,340,000 - 21.23%
Mr. Shu Cewan Long position Interest of controlled 1,059,340,000 - 21.23%
corporation®
FRALE e TS EE RO 1,059,340,000 = 21.23%
Notes: MI5E

(1) Boom Win Holdings Limited (“Boom Win") is owned as to 60% by
Mr. Shu Cecheng and as to 40% by Mr. Shu Cewan. Both Mr. Shu
Cecheng and Mr. Shu Cewan are directors of Boom Win. Mr. Shu
Cecheng and Mr. Shu Cewan are deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Boom Win for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.
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(ii) Long positions in Associated Corporation

(i) FrdEBCEENER

Percentage
to that
associated
corporation’s
issued share

Name of capital as at

Name of Nature of associated Number of Description 31 December

Director interest corporation shares held of shares 2018

E=B-N\&F
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R -]

R EE ERTRAE

EEpA RmMtE =2 BFEROHA R4 15 Bak

Mr. Shu Cecheng  Corporate interest  Boom Win 30,000 shares Par value of 60%
US$1.00

R A EEER BRY 30,000 fxf%fn MI1E1.003€7T 60%

Mr. Shu Cewan Corporate interest  Boom Win 20,000 shares Par value of 40%
US$1.00

EFRAEAE EE R 2.3 20,000 xf&fn  EI{E1.00357T 40%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company had an
interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO
(including the interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
were required, pursuant to the Model Code to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

R EXFARBEEN BHE-F N
FT+-A=1T—HB MEARAE
ENERITBRABRARF M
HEOEB (EERBFRBRBERIE
XVER) Bt ~ HHERGD RESF - #
B (o) RIFFEZ K B E (5B % XV BB A
HMEARRA BRI EIIRR
(BHRBREIEFMARRIREEE
SR AEA D FORE) - Hb) R
RREH LB IGREIE IS2HFABRER
& IERAT S R AR SOR R - (<)
RBZESTRIZAME AR A M BER
FTEVER SRR ©

AMBEBRIER AR AR / 2018 FF R 23



Report of the Directors (continued)

EEERE @

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Scheme which became effective on
27 May 2013 for the purpose of rewarding eligible participants
who have contributed to the Group and to encourage eligible
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the
Company. Eligible participants of the Scheme include (i) any
employee (whether full time or part time) of the Company, its
subsidiaries or any entity in which the Group holds any equity
interest (the “Invested Entity”), including any executive Director,
directors of its subsidiaries or Invested Entity; (ii) any non-
executive Director (including independent non-executive
Director), non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive) of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; or (i) any
senior management of the Company, its subsidiaries or Invested
Entity that the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have
contributed or will contribute to the Group. Subject to earlier
termination of the Scheme by the Company in general meeting
or by the Board, the Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 6 years from the date of its adoption.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue when the Scheme was
adopted, unless with the prior approval from the Company's
Shareholders. The Company had 449,472,191 Shares available
for issue under the Scheme, which represented 9.0% of the
Company’s Shares in issue as at the date of this report. The
maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme to each eligible participant in any
12-month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of Shares in
issue, unless with the prior approval from the Company's
Shareholders and with such participants and his close associates
abstaining from voting. Options granted to a connected person
of the Company, or any of their respective associates, shall be
subject to the prior approval of the independent non-executive
Directors. Where any option granted to a substantial
Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or any
of their respective associates, would result in the Shares issued
or to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and
to be granted to such person in the 12 month period, (i)
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue on
the date of such grant; and (ii) having an aggregate value,
based on the closing price of the Shares, in excess of HK$5
million, such grant of options shall be subject to prior approval
by resolutions of the Shareholders (voting by way of poll).
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An offer of the grant of an option under the Scheme shall
remain open for acceptance for 15 days from the date of grant.
Upon acceptance of such grant, the grantee shall pay HK$1 to
the Company as consideration. Options may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time from the
date of grant until the expiry of 6 years from such date. The
subscription price shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion, and in any event shall not be less than the
higher of (i) the closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations on the date of grant of that option,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant
of that option; and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there was no
outstanding share option and no share option was granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Scheme.

NON-PUBLIC ISSUE OF ON-SHORE CORPORATE
BONDS IN THE PRC

During the year ended 31 December 2016, Wuxi Wuzhou
International Ornament City, a limited liability company
established in the PRC and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, had, based on the result of book-building process,
issued two tranches of Corporate Bonds in the PRC.

On 11 January 2017, Wuxi Wuzhou International Ornament City
issued the third tranche of the Corporate Bonds in the amount
of RMB1 billion for a term of three years, with an annual coupon
rate of 7.30%.

Wuxi Wuzhou International Ornament City issued the Corporate
Bonds in order to provide additional source of funding. Wuxi
Wuzhou International Ornament City planned to use the net
proceeds from the Corporate Bonds for refinancing and as
general working capital of Wuxi Wuzhou International Ornament
City and its subsidiaries. As of 31 December 2018, the net
proceeds from the issue of this third tranche of the Corporate
Bonds amounted to approximately RMB989 million. As at the
date of this report, the net proceeds have been fully utilised in
compliance with the intended use of the proceeds.

For more details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 13 January 2017.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2018.

DIRECTOR'’S INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or significant contract,
to which the Company, its holding company, fellow subsidiaries
or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2018.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company’s Articles of Association provide that the
Company shall indemnify and hold harmless out of the assets of
the Company any Director who was or is made or is threatened
to be made a party or is otherwise involved in any action, suit or
proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or
investigative in which judgment is given in his favour, or in which
he is acquitted, by reason of the fact that he is or was a Director
or, while a Director, is or was serving at the request of the
Company as a director, including service with respect to
employee benefit plans, against all liability and loss suffered
and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) reasonably incurred by
the Director.

The Company has arranged appropriate coverage on Directors'
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As of 31 December 2018, so far as the Directors or chief
executive of the Company were aware, the person(s) (other than
a Director or chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short positions in any Shares and underlying Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

BEEEH

MEFHEEENMEEARERT 228K
TMERBONAHNRBE_T—\F
T A=+—BUEFEFEARFEARE
o] 5 R SR AE R o

FERR

HE-F-\F+-A=+-B HES
SARTEETHRABRM UFAL
(B AL T EBFTHABBIN R
BA AR (9 b B B RN B R M
17158 336 1 HLTE AR A F)ETE B BB L
R RAR

Approximate
percentage of

Number of interest in the

Shares/ Company as at

underlying 31 December

Name of shareholder Nature of interest Shares held 2018

BERERE ERME R tn, RZE-—N\EF

HERGHE +=-A=+—H

FriEAR QTR

BB

Boom Win Beneficial interest® 1,059,340,000 21.23%

B FEAEEO 1,059,340,000 21.23%

Mr. Sun Hongbing Beneficial interest 1,016,548,9207 20.37%

BrRELAE EmEs 1,016,548,907 20.37%
Note: BIEE -

(1) Boom Win is owned as to 60% by Mr. Shu Cecheng and as to 40% by Mr.
Shu Cewan. Each of Mr. Shu Cecheng and Mr. Shu Cewan is deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Boom Win for the purpose of Part XV
of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons who had any interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the aggregate sales
attributable to the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total sales in the
year.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the aggregate
purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total purchases in
the year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Director owned
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has a
beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers or
suppliers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there was no
connected transaction of the Group that need to be disclosed
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in
note 47 to the financial statements. These related party
transactions either did not constitute connected transactions/
continuing connected transactions or constituted connected
transactions/continuing connected transactions but were
exempted from all disclosure and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors or any of their
respective associates have engaged in any business that
competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group or have any other conflict of interests
with the Group.

28 WUZHOU INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018

FEREFRHER

RBE-ZF-N\FT_A=1T—HLLHF
B AEBEAAREFZHERAHEAE
BIRAFR 2 BHEE DN 30% -

REZ2-_ZE—)/\F+_A=+—HIHF
[§ AEBRAAHERZREES HHAR
SBENRAFE 2 BHETE DN 30% o

BEESE  WE2ETBEASTARR
(RBEEFMANEBARRC HITRAR
L%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ$EIEXXﬁ&{F%Z
miEn o

m

BEXS

REBREE - Z—\F+-_A=+—H
I FEHMESIEE FTRAE 4AZHE
HRER 5 o

RIS

AEERBEE-_Z—N\F+-_A=+—H
IFFEETHEBR SR SF BN T KR
FHIFE47 - ZEBE R P I EEK A E
R/ BEBEXSROCBREER
B/ BERERS  WERRETETR
BITE TR FTA # 55 & 8 R B0 A AR

o

R FRB S

BRATEEEI  BIEEENEARESE
) PN NS E S Eﬁjz—fﬁlaﬁ%
%%(7rnmﬁiﬁkfiﬁﬂ£k)BﬁfEfT%%f*fKEﬂZFEE
B EE A H AR = e



Report of the Directors (continued)

EEERE @

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group's emolument policy is designed to attract, retain and
motivate talented individuals to contribute to the success of the
business. The Group's emolument policy of the employees is
formulated and reviewed by the remuneration committee of the
Company on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the
remuneration committee, having regards to the Group's
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics.

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme under
the rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all its employees in Hong Kong. All the
employees of the Group in Hong Kong are required to join the
Company's mandatory provident fund scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ salaries.
The assets of the Company’s mandatory provident fund scheme
are held separately from those of the Group by an
independently administered fund. Contributions of the
employer vest fully with the employees when contribution was
made by the Company into the mandatory provident scheme.
No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years as of 31 December 2018.

The Group's subsidiaries in the PRC, in compliance with the
applicable regulations of the PRC, participated in a
state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the
local government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a
specific percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement
benefits schemes. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the
total amounts contributed by the Group to the schemes and
amount charged to the consolidated income statement
represented contribution payable to the scheme by the Group
at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of Mr. Shu Cecheng and Mr. Shu Cewan, the executive
Directors, and Boom Win (the “Controlling Shareholders”),
entered into a deed of non-competition dated 18 May 2013 (the
"Deed of Non-competition”) in favour of the Company (for itself
and on behalf of all members of the Group), pursuant to which
each of the Controlling Shareholders would not, and would
procure that none of his/its associates (other than any member
of the Group) will directly or indirectly, engage in any business
which competes or is likely to compete directly or indirectly with
the Group's business in the PRC or other places in which the
Group carries on business.

In this regard, each of the Controlling Shareholders had
provided to the Company a written confirmation in respect of
his/its compliance with the Deed of Non-competition for the
year ended 31 December 2018 and no personal interests were
ever declared by any Controlling Shareholders who are also
Directors at the Directors’ meetings. The independent non-
executive Directors had also reviewed the compliance by each
of the Controlling Shareholders with the undertakings in the
Deed of Non-competition during the year ended 31 December
2018. The independent non-executive Directors had confirmed
that, as far as they can ascertain, there is no breach by any of
the Controlling Shareholders of the undertakings in the Deed of
Non-competition given by them.

As of the date of this report, the Company is not aware of any
other matters regarding the compliance of the undertaking and
there has not been any change in the terms of the Deed of
Non-competition since the Company’s listing on the Stock
Exchange.
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ESG DISCUSSION

The Group has been transforming itself into an operator of
modern mega-sized trade logistics parks. By gradually
embedding environmental, social and governance ("ESG")
factors into our daily operations, we have been striking a
balance between business development and mitigation of
environmental and social impact we created. In the regard, the
Group aims to deepen its dialogues with its key stakeholder
groups through platforms such as interactive activities, meetings
and publications. Our key stakeholder groups include tenants,
customers, employees, suppliers, trade associations, local
communities, etc. We strive to maintain close relationship with
our stakeholders and respond to their key concerns through
reporting our ESG performance. The Group's ESG Report will
be published in due course and can be found on both the
Company'’s and the Stock Exchange’s websites.

Environment

The Group is dedicated to implementing its environmental
protection philosophy. Embracing the increasingly stringent
national environmental laws in China, we continue to keep
abreast of the latest regulatory developments, ensuring the
Group is able to fully grasp such implications. The failure to be
responsive to changes to such regulations may adversely affect
the Group's reputation, operations and financial performance.
While these measures require considerable internal resources
and result in additional operational cost, the Group highly
values the importance of ensuring compliance with applicable
legal and regulatory requirements. In 2018, the Group has
strictly abided by the applicable environmental laws and
regulations and received no major fines for environmental
violations in 2018.

For our property management business, it is primarily an office-
based operation. Our environmental initiative is to focus on
energy saving and waste reduction, such as the promotion of
paperless office, installation of office automation systems, use
of video conferencing to replace business travel, etc.

For our project development business, all new projects are
required to submit environmental impact assessment report,
and construction begins only after obtaining permission from
the environmental protection agency. We have also prepared
the “Engineering Environmental Protection Management
Guidance Manual”, detailing the requirements of environmental
protection and energy conservation measures.
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We will continue to improve, identify, assess and control the
potential risk of wastewater and waste disposal, and monitor
the performance indicators related to the environment of the
construction site.

For further information about the Company’s environmental
performance during the year under review, please refer to the
separate ESG Report to be issued by the Company.

Employee

With the Group's comprehensive and transparent recruitment
and promotion mechanism, we can effectively attract and retain
talent. In 2018, we have strictly complied with the “Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China” and “Labour Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China” in Mainland China. All new
employees must produce originals and copies of original
qualification documents necessary for the onboarding process
and recruitment procedures according to requirements.
Furthermore, they are required to fill out the “staff information
form”. Through strictly verifying new employee’s identification,
potential incidents on hiring child labour could be eliminated.

Over the years, the Group has been recruiting talents from both
university campuses and the society to enhance the Company's
talent reserve. We have been continuously promoting the
"high-flying” project targeting university students, aiming to
enrich the Group's talent pool.

Customers

The Group has been striving to attain higher customer
satisfaction levels by providing better quality services to its
customers. Detailed requirements regarding customer service
are listed in our staff handbook. Calls received from customers
and customer satisfaction measurements are handled according
to regulations, and employees are strictly prohibited from
intercepting needs and concerns expressed by customers. We
have also developed a series of customer service management
methods, including “retail customer service management
approach”,
in-depth market management work and standardization of the

complaints management approach”, carrying out

market in order to avoid competition between tenants.
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Suppliers

On engaging our suppliers, in addition to ensure their business
principles, conduct, and standards are aligned with our own, we
regularly monitor whether their performance has satisfied the
Group's requirements regarding environmental and social
aspects. In 2018, a supplier database has also been established
to improve procurement efficiency.

Community

The Group bears its share of corporate social responsibility,
understanding that it requires long-term efforts and does not
imply participating charitable activities on one-off basis. During
the year, the Group held a number of community activities
throughout Mainland China. By donating funds, materials and
organizing public welfare activities, we actively connect with the
communities by offering assistance in the areas of poverty
alleviation, education, etc. In 2018, the Group had donated a
total of approximately RMB26,500.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
contained in this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group and its activities are subject to requirements under
various laws. These include, among others, Labour Law of the
PRC* ("HZE AR FBE 25 E))%"), Labour Contract Law of the
PRC ("H#EARKEMBILE & [EE") Environmental Protection
Law of the PRC* ("F# AR M BIIRERAIX"), Law of the PRC
on Wholly Foreign-Owned Enterprises* ("H ZE A R HEAEIINE
JJ:% 7%") and Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax* ("H 2
HREPEFTEHIE") and the applicable regulations,
gwdellnes and policies issued or promulgated under or in
connection with these statutes. On the listed company level, the
Group is also subject to the Listing Rules, the Codes on
Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buybacks, the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and/or the laws, rules and regulations of the
jurisdictions where the Group companies are incorporated. The
Company seeks to ensure compliance with these requirements
through various measures such as internal controls, trainings
and oversight of various business units at different levels of the
Group. The Group highly values the importance of ensuring
compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, as far as the
Company is aware, there was no material breach of or
noncompliance with applicable laws and regulations by the
Group that has a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 December 2018.

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

Save for disclosed below, the Company did not have any equity
fund raising activating during the year under review.

On 29 August 2018, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with the Cathy Capital Holdings Limited (”Cathy
Capital”), pursuant to which Cathy Capital has agreed to
subscribe for, and the Company has agreed to issue, the
convertible notes in the principal amount of HK$2,000,000.
Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 29
August 2018 and 16 June for further details.

Completion of the subscription did not take place and the
subscription has lapsed.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

Save for the transactions disclosed below, there were no
significant investments held, material acquisitions and disposal
of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the financial
period under review.

On 12 April 2018, Shenzhen AnChuang Investment
Management Limited* (FIIZEIIZEEIRBRAA]) (“Investor
I"), Lasa Economic Shengrui Asset Management Company* (fiZ
ELBERNAZRAREESIERR AT (“Investor 11"), Wuxi
Wuzhou International Ornament City, Dali Wuzhou International
Trade City Co., Ltd.* (REAMBEREERBR AR (“Dali
Wuzhou") and Mr. Shu Cecheng, Mr. Shu Cewan, Ms. Zhu Lijuan
and Ms. Qi Xuegqin as the guarantors entered into a cooperation
agreement whereby the parties agreed that, among others (i)
Investor | and Investor Il shall inject RMB267,450,000 and
RMB178,300,000 respectively, as capital injection into Dali
Wuzhou; and (ii) Investor | and Investor Il shall provide
RMB120,000,000 and RMB80,000,000 respectively, as
shareholders’ loan to Dali Wuzhou. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 12 April 2018 for further
details.

On 25 December 2017, Wuxi Zhongnan Property Investment
Co., Ltd.* (BEHTPMEFXKEAFAR LA, Wuxi Longxiang
Investment Co., Ltd.* (&5 T 8E4£1% & B PR A 7]), Wuxi Longteng
Commercial Investment & Development Co., Ltd.* (&5 Rl
FEREZER AR AF]), and Wuxi Chonganxincheng Longan
Commercial Property Management Co., Ltd.* (B M= HiH
BELZEFABMRAA) (collectively as the “Vendors”) entered into
four respective agreements with Jiangsu Rungang
Petrochemical Co., Ltd.* (L& BB ALLER QA (the
"Purchaser”), pursuant to which the Vendors have agreed to
sell, and the Purchaser has agreed to acquire, the entire equity
interest in the Xuyi Wuzhou International Property Co., Ltd.* (i
BAMBEREZEBR AR (the “Disposal Company”) which is
the entire equity interest in the Disposal Company at the
purchase price of RMB350 million. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 20 August 2018 for
further details.
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On 17 December 2018, Zhongnongpi Construction
Development Co., Ltd.* (PR EZFHEER QA
("Zhongnongpi Construction”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
China Supply and Marketing Agricultural Products Wholesale
Market Holdings Co., Ltd.* (P EI# 5 2 E m#t B ISR AR A
A)), and Wuxi Longfa Commercial Development Co., Ltd.* (£#5
BEREEERAMR AR ("Wuxi Longfa”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an equity
transfer agreement, pursuant to which Zhongnongpi
Construction has agreed to sell, and Wuxi Longfa has agreed to
purchase, 34% equity interest in Chongging Yongchuan District
Wuzhou Zhonghe Business Logistics Co., Ltd.* (EETK/I|[E R
MPEEmEMRAR AR ("Chongging Yongchuan”) at a
consideration of approximately RMB5.1 million.

Immediately before completion of the acquisition of Chongging
Yongchuan, 34%, 33%, 18% and 15% of equity interests in
Chongging Yongchuan were held by Zhongnongpi
Construction, Wuxi Wuzhou, Wuxi Zhongnan Real Estate
Investment Co., Ltd.* (EHFEEFHEBR AR (“"Wuxi
Zhongnan”), and Wuxi Tuomai Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership)* (BHBIREGHEEBERERE)) ("Wuxi
Tuomai”), respectively. Upon completion of the acquisition, the
Group held 85% of equity interest in Chongging Yongchuan.

On 17 December 2018, Shenyang Wuzhou International
Industrial Expo City Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (&5 RN BBR T8
B E X BR AR (“Shenyang Wuzhou"), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and Zhongnongpi (Beijing)
Enterprise Operation Management Co., Ltd.* (FE2#L(JE )%
BEEERABMRAR]) (“Zhongnongpi (Beijing)”), a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of Zhongnongpi Construction, entered into
an equity transfer agreement, pursuant to which Shenyang
Wuzhou has agreed to sell, and Zhongnongpi (Beijing) has
agreed to purchase, 49.5% equity interest in Fushun Zhonghe
Market Development Co., Ltd.* (B & MiZRAZEER A )
("Fushun Zhonghe”) at a consideration of approximately
RMB34.0 million.
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Immediately before completion of the disposal of Fushun
Zhonghe, 49.5% and 50.5% of equity interests in Fushun
Zhonghe were held by Shenyang Wuzhou and Zhongnongpi
(Beijing), respectively. Upon completion, Shenyang Wuzhou no
longer held any equity interest in Fushun Zhonghe.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 26
February 2019 for further details.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save for the transactions and events disclosed below, there
were no major subsequent event occurred since the end of the
financial year ended 31 December 2018 up to the date of this
report.

On 7 May 2019, Wuxi Wuzhou Longsheng Commercial Co.
Limited* (B AMNEREEERAA) ("Wuxi Wuzhou
Longsheng”) and Shanghai Zongzhu Management Consultancy
Co. Limited* (LB REEE A B AR A A]) (“Shanghai Zongzhu”)
entered into a commodity property transfer agreement,
pursuant to which Wuxi Wuzhou Longsheng agreed to sell, and
Shanghai Zongzhu agreed to acquire, the investment property
of the Group located at No. 3-0175, Xinxing West Road,
Huishan District, Wuxi City, the PRC with a gross floor area of
approximately 7,700 square metres at a total consideration of
RMB40 million. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 9 May 2019 for further details.

On 22 May 2019, Wuxi Wuzhou Longsheng Commercial Co.
Limited* (85 TMBER B BPR 2 7)) and Shanghai Huishitong
Investment Co. Limited* (L /BEZBIREEEER QA
(“Shanghai Huishitong”) entered into a commodity property
transfer agreement, pursuant to which Wuxi Wuzhou Longsheng
Commercial Co. Limited agreed to sell, and Shanghai
Huishitong agreed to acquire, the investment property of the
Group comprising 113 commercial premises being units 1-96,
135-151 on the third floor of Liulong Commercial Center, No. 3
Xinxing West Road, Huishan District, Wuxi City, the PRC with a
gross floor area of approximately 3,106.54 square metres at a
total consideration of RMB35.6 million. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 22 May 2019 for further
details.
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On 18 July 2019, Hangzhou Longan Zhiye Co. Limited* (1)1 &
ZEEBMRAR]) ("Hangzhou Longan”) and Yiwushi Hengfeng
Lugiao Co., Ltd* (EEMERKBEER A A) (“Yiwushi
Hengfeng”) entered into a commercial property transaction
framework agreement, pursuant to which Hangzhou Longan
agreed to sell, and Yiwushi Hengfeng agreed to acquire, an
investment commercial property of the Group comprising of
Wuzhou International Commercial Centre, No. 799, Yuhangtong
Road, West Lake District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC
with a gross floor area of approximately 1,583.91 square metres
at a total consideration of RMB36.1 million. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 18 July 2019 for further
details.

On 30 December 2019, the reversal of the registration of the
change of shareholders of Xuyi Wuzhou International Property
Co., Ltd.* (FFRa HMBIBR B Z B R A R]) back to Wuxi Zhongnan
Property Investment Co., Ltd.* (EHTFHEBEXIEEGR R A,
Wuxi Longxiang Investment Company Limited* (&5 M etfi%
BEABMRAF]) (“"Wuxi Longxiang”), Wuxi Longteng Commercial
Investment & Development Co., Ltd.* (BEi5 M el E= R E R
BABR/AF]), and Wuxi Chonganxincheng Longan Commercial
Property Management Co., Ltd.* (B ML HIRELEXBR
A al). Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 30 December 2019, 25 January 2019 and 20 August 2018
for further details.

On 30 March 2020, Wuxi Longxiang and Ningbo Huaye Material
Technology Company Limited* (2K ZEZEM B EHRER R F])
(“Ningbo Huaye”) entered into a debt settlement agreement,
pursuant to which Wuxi Longxiang agreed to sell, and Ningbo
Huaye agreed to acquire, the Zhonghai Trust — Huayi Pure
Bond No. 7 Collective Funds Trust Scheme* (F/8{=5F — %
ME7TRES B2 55T:TE)) at a total consideration of RMB31.68
million. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 31 March 2020 for further details.
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On 10 April 2020, Wuxi Zhongnan Properties Investment
Company Limited* (E#HFEEFEKREBRAA]) (“Wuxi
Zhongnan”) and Ningbo Huaye and Ningbo Qichuang
Properties Company Limited* (28I B % B R 2 A)) (“Ningbo
Qichuang”) entered into two debt settlement agreements
respectively, pursuant to which Wuxi Zhongnan agreed to sell,
and Ningbo Huaye and Ningbo Qichuang agreed to acquire,
certain interests in Zhonghai Trust — Huayi Pure Bond No. 6
Collective Funds Trust Scheme* (F/8155F — E R E6HES
&4 {=5E5138l) at a consideration of RMB12.1 million and RMB20
million respectively. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 16 April 2020 for further details.

On 4 August 2020, Wuxi Longxiang Investment Company
Limited* (BB MEFIREBRRF]) (the “Vendor”), each of
Zhengzhou Ruimaotong Supply Chain Company Limited* (5|
W BHEEAR AR (the “Purchaser 1”) and Henan Yian
Supply Chain Management Company Limited* ()] 16 % £ F& &
BIEBPRATA]) (the “Purchaser 2”) entered into the agreement
of property sale and bonds cancellation 1 and agreement of
property sale and bonds cancellation 2 respectively, pursuant to
which the Vendor agreed to sell, and the Purchaser 1 and
Purchaser 2 agreed to acquire a total of 52 commercial property
units situated on 5/F, Area A, Wuzhou Galaxy City and a total of
71 commercial property units situated on 4/F, Area C of Wuzhou
Galaxy City at a consideration of approximately RMB43.74
million and approximately RMB20.22 million respectively. For
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 4 August 2020.

On 21 August 2020, the Company has published an
announcement in relation to the winding up of Hong Kong
Wuzhou International Group Limited (“Hong Kong Wuzhou”) by
way of creditors’ voluntary liquidation. As part of the Group's
restructuring and upon request by the relevant creditors,
Wuzhou International Investment Limited, the sole shareholder
of Hong Kong Wuzhou, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, resolved that Hong Kong Wuzhou could not by
reason of its liabilities, continue its business, and that it should
be wound up. For details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 21 August 2020.
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On 24 August 2020, the Company has published an
announcement in relation to the independent review of the
independent advisor on (i) the suspected unapproved transfers
and (i) unauthorised fund transfers as required by the special
investigation committee of the Company. The special
investigation committee has considered the findings of the
report of the independent advisor and formed views and
recommendations. Further, the Board has taken remedial
actions in addressing concerns over the internal control of the
Group. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 26 August 2020.

On 24 August 2020, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with China Concept Fund SPC (“China Concept”),
pursuant to which China Concept has conditionally agreed to
subscribe new shares to be issued by the Company as part of
the Group's restructuring in order to fulfill the resumption
guidance and the additional resumption guidance issued by the
Stock Exchange. For details, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 26 August 2020.
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MAJOR FINDINGS OF THE INDEPENDENT
REVIEW OF THE INDEPENDENT ADVISOR

On 24 August 2020, the Company has published an
announcement in relation to the independent review of the
independent advisor on (i) the suspected unapproved transfer
of equity interest in companies (the “Suspected Unapproved
Transfers”) and (ii) unauthorised fund transfers as required by
the special investigation committee of the Company.

Suspected Unapproved Transfer

1. since 1 January 2018, there were in total 15 Suspected
Unapproved Transfers, 13 of which had been completed,
while the remaining 2 were subject to dispute or official
registration;

2. each of the Suspected Unapproved Transfers had not
been reported to the Board,;

3. save for one Suspected Unapproved Transfers where the
Company had taken remedial action and published an
announcement on 20 August 2018 upon becoming aware
of it, the Board was not informed of the remaining 14
Suspected Unapproved Transfers and had therefore failed
to comply with the relevant reporting, announcement and
shareholders’ approval requirements of a notifiable
transaction as required under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules;

4. Mr. Shu Cecheng and/or Mr. Shu Cewan (“Messrs Shu”)
were the legal representatives and/or senior management
of the controlling shareholders of the subject entities
transferred at the time when the Suspected Unapproved
Transfer took place. Messrs Shu were also executive
directors of the Company at the material time and had
failed to report and disclose the potential transfer of the
entities to the Board. As all the Suspected Unapproved
Transfers were executed by either one of Messrs Shu,
Messrs Shu are likely to be held responsible for the
Company's failure in complying with the relevant
requirements under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules;

BYBERETEVEENTIERSE
R

RZEBE-ZEFN\A=-FWA » A& )%
RNE - AR BB EREAR AR
EZEENERHM()RBALIEEER
AIRRE ([ RBAGCHEEZE]) R (i) RE
BRELASEEETIBUES -

RERKHEEE

1. BZE—NE—HF—H  *£F15
REEBARSHEEE  HPI13RE
TR MR N 2R MFHHKER

=
=n
2. BRRBAKHAEBETIERES
P
=R

3. B—FRARREREMEHEELR
MBERE_Z-NFNA-TAT
BRENRBREIEERIN &
ZEEWTHNER T 14REEARSLH
FEEE - FibRgEE T EHARRE
T4EE NIRENAT RHRZ S
MHERR - NEMBCRIERTE

4. FFRBREE R HET R A K E ([ EF
FEEDREBREIH EEER LR
AWERENHERBITRERENET
REE/FEREERRE - FEER
BREBITARNRARNRITES
REEMEBEZERELRBEZSZER
BB EERE - A FTA 52 B ARt
HEEERFEEER— AR
LR ARANT REEEST
MRAFEAZEBETHEBREAEE

AMBEERZERERAR /2018 FF5HK 41



Report of the Directors (continued)

EEERE @

5. Messrs Shu explained that at the material time, the
Company did not have any policy or procedures in place
for reporting transfer of assets or equity interest of
subsidiaries to the Board and/or management and hence
they were not aware that the Suspected Unapproved
Transfers had to be reported to the Board for approval. It
was not until September 2018 did the Company set out the
policy and procedures for reporting transfer of assets or
equity interest of subsidiaries to the Board and/or
management;

6. since the Company had not put in place clear reporting
and approval policy or procedures for reporting transfer of
assets or equity interest of subsidiaries at the time of the
Suspected Unapproved Transfers, the independent advisor
was unable to conclude whether the Suspected
Unapproved Transfers were the result of the lack of clear
policy or procedures or the willful withholding of the
information by Messrs Shu; and

Unauthorized Fund Transfer

7. during the Relevant Period, the Company made 30
transactions which involved payments with amount
equivalent to RMB10,000,000 or above;

8. amongst the 30 transactions reviewed, all the transactions
have complied with the relevant approvals as required
under the applicable payment procedures, except for the
5 transactions;

9. there were no discrepancies among the bank account

records and the internal records of all the subsidiaries of
the Company.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
EEEHRET W

Remedial Actions Taken by the Company

The Board has considered the final reports prepared by the
independent advisor and the views and recommendation from
the special investigation committee of the Company. The Board
has taken the following remedial actions: (1) enhancement of
internal control; (2) reviewing on the Company’s internal control
systems and financial reporting procedures; and (3) taking legal
advice on suspected unapproved transfers.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 24
August 2020 for further details. Further announcement in
relation to the Suspected Unapproved Transfers will be made as
and when appropriate.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51(B) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of Directors/chief executives since 30 June 2018 up
to 30 April 2019 are set out below:

On 7 August 2018, each of Mr. Zhu Yonggiu, Mr. Shen Xiaowei
and Ms. Cai Qiaoling has been appointed as an executive
Director.

On 7 August 2018, Mr. Liu Chaodong has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director.

On 7 August 2018, Mr. Zhou Chen has been re-designated from
an independent non-executive Director to an executive
Director.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

EEERE @

AUDITORS

On 6 February 2018, the Board announced that the Company
and Ernst & Young (“EY”) had mutually agreed not to renew
EY’s appointment as auditor of the Company subsequent to the
expiry of EY's appointment to carry out audit work and issue of
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2016. The Board had resolved to
appoint BDO Limited as new auditor of the Company to fill the
casual vacancy following the non-renewal of EY's appointment.

BDO Limited has resigned as the auditor of the Company on 27
February 2020. Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited was appointed as
the auditor of the Company on 27 February 2020.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018 have been audited by Zhonghui
Anda CPA Limited ("Zhonghui Anda”), who was first appointed
by the Directors as the auditors of the Company on 27 February
2020 and will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of our Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for its reappointment as the auditor
of the Company will be proposed.

On behalf of the Board
Shen Xiaowei
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 18 August 2020

*  For identification purpose only
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRE

The Company is committed to maintain high standards of
corporate governance with a view to assuring the conduct of
management of the Company as well as protecting the interests
of all Shareholders. The Company has always recognized the
importance of Shareholders’ transparency and accountability. It
is the belief of the Board that Shareholders can maximize their
benefits from good corporate governance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company has adopted the code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Company and the
Directors confirm, to the best of their knowledge, that the
Company has complied with the code provisions contained in
the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2018
except for code provisions A.2.7, A.4.1, A.6.7 and E.1.2.

Code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code stipulates that the
chairman should at least annually hold meetings with the non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) without the executive directors present. Mr. Shu
Cecheng, the chairman of the Company, did not hold any
meeting with the non-executive Directors of the Company
without the executive Directors present. However, Mr. Shu
Cecheng has effective communication with the non-executive
Directors from time to time.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. Mr. Wang Wei, the non-executive
Director was not appointed for a specific term. The articles of
association of the Company stipulates that every director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at least
once every three years. Therefore, in the opinion of the Board,
this meets the objective of the CG Code. Since the resignation
of Mr. Wang Wei on 25 June 2018, the Company no longer
deviated from the Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
PEESLIFLE o)

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code stipulates that
independent non-executive directors and other non-executive
directors should attend general meetings and develop a
balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. All
independent non-executive Directors and the non-executive
Director did not attend the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 1 June 2018 since they had other business
commitments that required their attendance.

Code provision E.1.2 stipulates that the chairman of the board
should attend the annual general meeting and should invite the
chairman of the audit, remuneration, nomination and any other
committees (as appropriate) to attend the annual general
meeting. In their absence, he should invite another member of
the committee or failing this his duly appointed delegate, to
attend. Mr. Shu Cecheng (the chairman of the Company and
nomination committee of the Company), Dr. Song Ming (the
chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company) did
not attend the annual general meeting held on 1 June 2018
since they had other business commitments that required their
attendance.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as the
code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions.
The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors
whether the Directors have complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code regarding Directors’ securities
transactions during the year ended 31 December 2018 and all
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
PEESLIFLE o)

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and overseeing the Group's business, strategic
decisions and performances, and has full and timely access to
all relevant information in relation to the Group's business and
affairs, but the day-to-day management is delegated to the
management of the Company. The independent non-executive
Directors possess respectively professional qualifications and
related management experience in the areas of financial
accounting, law, global economy and real estate and have
contributed to the Board with their professional opinions.

Further, the Board is in charge of the task of maximizing the
financial performance of the Company, formulating strategies
and management policies of the Group, approving strategic
objectives and is responsible for providing the Shareholders
with a long-term return with stable and continuous growth.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those
may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

The Board is also responsible for maintaining and reviewing the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. It has carried out reviews of the existing
implemented systems and procedures, including control
measures of financial and operational compliance and risk
management functions of the Group.

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of Directors and is responsible for
performing the corporate governance duties as required under
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. For the year ended 31
December 2018, the Company has, among others, reviewed
and updated the compliance manuals on notifiable transactions
and price sensitive information (inside information) in
accordance with the Listing Rules as guidelines for its
employees.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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Composition and Qualifications

As at 31 December 2018, the Board comprised six executive
Directors, being Mr. Shu Cecheng (Chairman), Mr. Shu Cewan
(Chief Executive Officer), Mr. Zhu Yonggiu, Mr. Shen Xiaowei,
Ms. Cai Qiaoling and Mr. Zhou Chen and three independent
non-executive Directors, being Dr. Song Ming, Prof. Shu
Guoying and Mr. Liu Chaodong.

Biographical details of each Director are set out on pages 65 to
72.

The relationships among the members of the Board are
disclosed under “Directors’ Biographies” on pages 65 to 72.
Save as disclosed under “Directors’ Biographies”, the Board
members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other. The formation of the
Board has met Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules for the Board to
have at least one-third in number of its members comprising
independent non-executive Directors.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company is of the view that all the independent
non-executive Directors meet the guidelines for assessing
independence in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors and the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a specific term of three years.

Mr. Wang Wei, the non-executive Director of the Company was
not appointed for a specific term. This constitutes a deviation
from provision A.4.1 of the CG Code. The Articles of Association
stipulates that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at least once every three years.
Therefore, in the opinion of the Board, this meets the objective
of the CG Code. Further, Mr. Wang has resigned on 25 June
2018. The Company has no deviation from provision A.4.1 since
then.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Directors’ Training and Professional Development
Programme

All Directors should keep abreast of the responsibilities as a
director, and of the conduct and business activities of the
Company. The Company is responsible for arranging and
funding suitable induction programmes and on-going training
and professional development programmes for the Directors.
Accordingly, the Company has and will arrange an induction
programme for the newly appointed Director before his/her
formal appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of
the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements being a newly appointed
Director. The Company further arranges on-going training and
professional development seminars for Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, all Directors were
provided with monthly updates on the Group’s business,
operations and financial matters as well as updates, if any, on
applicable legal and regulatory and market changes to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities. The Company had also
organized a seminar on the “Continuing Obligations of
Directors of Companies listed in Hong Kong” for the Directors.
The seminar was facilitated by Company’s legal advisors with
presentation and relevant materials. Continuing briefings and
professional development for Directors will be arranged
whenever necessary.

All Directors had provided the company secretary of the
Company with their training records for the year of 2018.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Types of
continuous
professional
development

programmes
Directors (Note)
BEx BEEXRE
srEmR
(Bf=E)
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Shu Cecheng R T E (A) and (B)
(A) K2 (B)
Mr. Shu Cewan RN E (A) and (B)
(A) K2 (B)
Mr. Zhu Yonggqiu Kok A (A) and (B)
(appointed on 7 August 2018) (RZZE-N\FN\ALBEZE) (A) X (B)
Mr. Shen Xiaowei SR E A (A) and (B)
(appointed on 7 August 2018) (R N\FNALBEEE) (A) & (B)
Ms. Cai Qiaoling EMRLL (A) and (B)
(appointed on 7 August 2018) (RZZE-N\F/N\ALBEZE) (A) & (B)
Mr. Zhou Chen BRTE
(re-designated as Executive Director (R=ZE—NFNALBRATAE (A) and (B)
on 7 August 2018) WITESE) (A) K (B)
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Wang Wei TR E (A) and (B)
(resigned on 25 June 2018) (RZZB-N\FXAZ_THBEEHE) (A) % (B)
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHITES
Dr. Song Ming REIELT (A) and (B)
(A) K2 (B)
Prof. Shu Guoying & B E X (A) and (B)
(A) K2 (B)
Mr. Liu Chaodong LUSAR LA (A) and (B)
(appointed on 7 August 2018) (RZE-NF/\A+-BEZEE) (A) & (B)
Mr. Zhou Chen BREE
(re-designated as Executive Director on (R=ZE—N\FN\ALBERAER (A) and (B)
7 August 2018) HMITEE) (A) & (B)
Note: Bt

(A):  attending briefing sessions and/or seminars

(A HEERE R R

(B):  reading seminar materials and updates relating to the latest development  (B) : BIE#FE SR EM@ TR R EMEBE

of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Indemnification of Directors and Officers

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on

Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions

against Directors and senior management arising out of

corporate activities.

EERSRAENRERH

ARBEREETRSREERBEARRES
Al e E R AR AL - ZHHEENES
SMAB B ERRE

BOARD MEETINGS EEEE;
During the year ended 31 December 2018, twenty-three EZF@HZz—_ZT— ) \F+_A=+—HIt
meetings were held by the Board. The individual attendance FERNHLBIT-+=A&:% - ARIEEH
records are as follows: JERCERAAT
No. of
meetings
attended/
No. of
Directors meetings held
= HEEeRHE
BITEEHE
Executive Directors: HITES:
Mr. Shu Cecheng RIS 17/23
Mr. Shu Cewan AL AE 22/23
Mr. Zhu Yonggiu RIKIRSEHE
(appointed on 7 August 2018) (R=ZE-NFN\ALBEZT) 6/6
Mr. Shen Xiaowei LERETE
(appointed on 7 August 2018) (RZZE-N\FN\ALBEZE) 6/6
Ms. Cai Qiaoling B+
(appointed on 7 August 2018) (RMZZE-N\F\A+RBEZT) 6/6
Mr. Zhou Chen BAR%E
(re-designated as Executive Director (R=FE-—N\FN\RALRAER
on 7 August 2018) WITESE) 6/6
Non-executive Director: FHITES :
Mr. Wang Wei (resigned on 25 June 2018) TR E
(RZFE-—N\FARAZTLBEE) To
Independent non-executive Directors: BYFHTES:
Dr. Song Ming REIEL 14/22
Prof. Shu Guoying ETBEZX 22
Mr. Liu Chaodong BIFAR S
(appointed on 7 August 2018) (R-Z-Ni it B 6/6
Mr. Zhou Chen B =%
(re-designated as Executive Director (RM=2—NEANRtHHER
on 7 August 2018) WITESE) 16/16
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Directors have timely access to relevant information prior to
each Board meeting. Directors are given the opportunity to

EENBREFTEER
BAES EFARATHEZRSSRNEE

Zﬁ‘&ﬁﬂéh{ﬂ(*ﬁ

include matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings while 2% 1w =18 ITEE@%%AX@&E

Directors have access to board papers and related materials to
allow them to make informed decisions on matters arising from

Board meetings.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of other committees
are kept by the company secretary of the Company and are

open for inspection by Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company held & ZE—
one general meeting. The attendance by the Directors at the
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general meeting were as follows: RRSHCEHMT ¢
No. of
meeting
attended/
No. of
Directors meeting held
E=x LEEBRHE
#HITFEEE
Executive Directors: HITES :
Mr. Shu Cecheng M E 0/1
Mr. Shu Cewan FFEALE A
Mr. Zhu Yonggiu RIKIRSEHE
(appointed on 7 August 2018) (R=ZZE—-N\FN\ALHEZT) 0/0
Mr. Shen Xiaowei LERELE
(appointed on 7 August 2018) (R=ZZE-NF/\ALBEZE) 0/0
Ms. Cai Qiaoling ZEMRLL
(appointed on 7 August 2018) (R=ZE—/\FN\HALBEZE) 0/0
Mr. Zhou Chen BREE
(re-designated as Executive Director (R=E—-N\FENALRAER
on 7 August 2018) WITESR) 0/0
Non-executive Director: FHITES :
Mr. Wang Wei (resigned on 25 June 2018) TR S
UksEeilte '~ 5 —+ A A#E) 0/1
Independent non-executive Directors: BYFHTES
Dr. Song Ming REHE L 0N
Prof. Shu Guoying ETEEHIX 0N
Mr. Liu Chaodong BIFAR LA
(appointed on 7 August 2018) (R=F—\FNALBEZHF) 0/0

Mr. Zhou Chen
(re-designated as Executive Director
on 7 August 2018)

BAREE
(R=F=NF/\A+BHAER
WITES)
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee for the
purpose of reviewing and monitoring the financial reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems of the
Company. As at 31 December 2018, the audit committee of the
Company comprised the three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Liu Chaodong, Dr. Song Ming and Prof.
Shu Guoying, while Mr. Liu Chaodong is the chairman of the
audit committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the audit committee
held three meetings. The individual attendance records are as
follows:

BEREES

ARRIERVEZEZE S BHRESR
ERARRFBHRERE  EREELA
MEHNRSE R _F—-NF+_A=1—
B ARFIEZZE SR = RBLIFNTT
BEEEMK - BARELE - REELREF
Ba#E PR CEETERZE S
FE o

BE-_Z—)\E+-_A=+—HIEFE "
EREEERRITSREH - ARILERD
BRO0T -

No. of

meetings

attended/

No. of

Directors meetings held

BEx HESREAE

BITERYE

Dr. Song Ming REH L 2/3

Prof. Shu Guoying & Bl HIX 3/3

Mr. Liu Chaodong BIFAR e E

(appointed on 7 August 2018) (MZZ-N\FN\ALBEZE) /1
Mr. Zhou Chen (resigned as chairman and BAEx4d (R-_E—N\FN\ALH

committee member on 7 August 2018) BEXEREZEGKE) 2/2

The audit committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
important accounting policies, overseeing the Company'’s
financial reporting process, monitoring the performance of the
external auditors and the internal audit department, reviewing
and evaluating the effectiveness of the Company's financial
reporting procedures, risk management and internal control
procedures and ensuring compliance with applicable statutory
accounting and reporting requirements, legal and regulatory
requirements, internal rules and procedures approved by the
Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the audit committee
reviewed and discussed with external auditors of the Company
the Group's financial statements and the audit committee also
reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit
function. The audit committee together with the management
of the Company also reviewed the accounting policies and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed, among other
things, risk management and internal control systems and
financial reporting matters.

BEZLZESEEETREENERR &
BARRRWP B RERIE - BERINZH
Bh & ARPEZ B RER - | AHEAR
RIS REIRT - Bk E R KA
RFHMEE  BARETEREESH MR
ERE AEREERE - AERAIRE
ERHENRERF

BE_F-/\FT A=y gk L
BRZZ B HARAIMNEZBEEMALE
BB RRIWETRS - MBZRZE ST
WA AR B AR E BN BRIE - T
ZESEARNREEETEHNAEERA
Z e R RED - SR (HhBHE) R
BB IR Ko R BB ] R A R B RS I
Tg o

AMBEBRIER AR AR / 2018 FF R 58



Corporate Governance Report (continued)
TEERERE @

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee. The
remuneration committee is responsible for advising the Board
on the remuneration policy and framework of the Company’s
Directors and senior management, as well as reviewing and
determining the remuneration of all executive Directors and
senior management with reference to the Company's objectives
from time to time. As at 31 December 2018, the remuneration
committee comprised an executive Director, Mr. Shu Cewan,
and two independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Song Ming
and Prof. Shu Guoying, while Dr. Song Ming is the chairman of
the committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the remuneration
committee held two meetings. The individual attendance
records are as follows:

yMESS

ARAIERIUFMEES - HFHEZEESE
BERARAERRSREERE 2 HMBR
ERBRESSRIES  L2RARF
ZEAETREHLRETEEBNTEEMS
RERBZFHN - R-_F—-N\F+_H
=t+—B FMZEeXERE—RNT
EEFRACERMBBILIFATESER
BE LT RFEEIER ZEEXTFEARH
Bt

HE-Z— \E+-A=+—HLFE -
FMEZEeRRITMAEH - @ARLER
RN

No. of

meetings

attended/

No. of

Directors meetings held
Bx HESERE
HTEREE

Dr. Song Ming REgiE+ 1/2
Mr. Shu Cewan FFERALE 2
Prof. Shu Guoying £ Bl 2 HX 22

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the remuneration
committee has discussed and reviewed the remuneration
packages of the Directors and has made recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and senior management.
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Details of the remuneration by band of the members of the
senior management of the Company (including executive
Directors), whose biographies are set out on pages 65 to 72 of
this annual report, for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set

ARABREREXNE(BERITES)
(BEEHNAFRESEFT2H ) 1R E B
HEHIHE—_ZFT-N\F+_A=+—H
IFFEFHMFBOT

out below:
Number of
Remuneration band individuals
FrENEn = A8
Nil to RMB1,000,000 T3 AR 1,000,000 7T 11

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee. The
nomination committee is primarily responsible for selection and
assessment of suitable candidates for appointment of Directors.
As at 31 December 2018, the nomination committee comprised
an executive Director, Mr. Shu Cecheng and two independent
non-executive Directors, Dr. Song Ming and Mr. Liu Chaodong,
while Mr. Shu Cecheng is the chairman of the committee.

In considering the suitability of a candidate for directorship, the
nomination committee will take into account the qualification,
experience, expertise and knowledge of the candidates as well
as the requirements under the Listing Rules.

The Company adopted a policy concerning the diversity of
Board members with measurable objectives. The nomination
committee evaluates the balance and blend of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives of the Board. Selection of
candidates is based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, professional and industry experience, skills,
knowledge, ethnicity and other qualities essential to the
Company’s business, and merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Board will
review such measurable objectives from time to time to ensure
their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards
achieving those objectives.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, the nomination HZEZE-ZT—N\F+_A=+—HILFE "
committee held two meetings. The individual attendance REZZE€LRITH AL - EARHFRL
records are as follows: g (NI
No. of
meetings
attended/
No. of
Directors meetings held
EE HESBRHE
BTEEHE
Mr. Shu Cecheng %7 RIS A 2/2
Dr. Song Ming REEL 172
Mr. Liu Chaodong %'JEH??EE
(appointed on 7 August 2018) (R=ZE-—N\FN\ALBEZT) 0/0
Mr. Zhou Chen (resigned as AREE(RZ_Z—N\F/\ALAH
committee member on 7 August 2018) BEZEgKE) 2/2
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the nomination #HZ-Z—NF+_-_A=+—HIFE "
committee had reviewed the composition and diversity of the REZZECEEBHEZTSMNEXNLZ T

Board. Since the Board is composed of members coming from
diverse backgrounds, the nomination committee considered
the Board to possess a diversity of perspectives which is up to
the standard of the CG Code and is appropriate to the Group's
requirements which is determined by the Directors’ skills and
experience appropriate to the Company’s business. Besides,
the nomination committee had also evaluated the performance
of the retiring Directors during the year.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the role of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The Chairman of the
Board is Mr. Shu Cecheng and the chief executive officer is Mr.
Shu Cewan. Mr. Shu Cecheng and Mr. Shu Cewan are brothers.
However, there is a clear distinction between the Chairman’s
responsibility for overall strategic planning and the chief
executive officer’s responsibility for the management of day-to-
day operation of the Group's business.
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AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the total
remuneration for statutory audit services provided by the
Company's external auditors, Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited, and
PRC local auditors amounted to approximately RMB3,000,000
and RMB742,000 respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the total
remuneration for permissible non-audit services provided by
the external auditors (including any entity under common
control, ownership or management with the external auditors)
amounted to RMB954,000.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has
complied with Principle C.2 of the CG Code by establishing
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems. Management is responsible for the design,
implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the
Board oversees management in performing its duties on an
ongoing basis. Main features of the risk management and
internal control systems are described in the sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

° Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business
objectives and risks that could affect the achievement of
objectives.

e  Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

e Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor of the
residual risks.
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Based on the risk assessments conducted in the year ended 31
December 2018, the Board became aware that the Company
might have transferred the equity interest of certain subsidiaries
and such transfers had not been approved by the Board. The
Board took a serious view about this matter and had established
a special investigation committee which comprises Mr. Zhou
Chen, Dr. Song Ming, Prof. Shu Guoying and Mr. Liu Chaodong
to investigate the same. Details of the formation of the special
investigation committee are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 17 September 2018.

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system. The
internal control framework enables the Group to achieve
objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency of operations,
reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. The components of the framework are
shown as follow:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

e  Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group's
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks
should be managed.

e  Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried
out.

e Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

° Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present
and functioning.
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In order to enhance the Group's system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy,
completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group
also adopts and implements an inside information policy and
procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from
time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a
breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group,
which include:

e The access of information is restricted to a limited number
of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who
are in possession of inside information are fully conversant
with their obligations to preserve confidentiality.

e  Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group
enters into significant negotiations.

e  The executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with
external parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted and save for
the disclosure made under the section headed “Unauthorized
Fund Transfer” of the announcement of the Company dated 24
August 2020 in the year ended 31 December 2018, no
significant control deficiency was identified.

Internal Auditors

The Group has established its internal audit department, which
consists of professional staff with relevant expertise. The internal
audit department is independent of the Group's daily operation
and is responsible for financial and operational audit of the
Company and its subsidiaries on a regular basis, as well as
formulating risk management and internal control system for
pinpointing, identifying and controlling financial and
operational risks, ensuring compliance with all applicable laws
and regulations and protection of the Group's assets.

The internal audit team principally supervises and reviews
internal control and compliance matters of the Group, and
internal audit covers investments, marketing activities,
operation, procurement and tenders as well as information
security.
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According to the Company'’s internal audit plan, review of the
risk management and internal control systems is conducted
semi-annually respectively, and the results are reported to the
Board via the audit committee afterwards.

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is overall responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group including financial,
operational and compliance controls, and review and
assessment of the effectiveness of these systems has been
conducted semi-annually in order to safeguard the Group's
assets and Shareholders’ interests. Several areas have been
considered during the Board's reviews, which include but not
limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent of significant
risks since the last annual review, and the Group's ability to
respond to changes in its business and the external
environment (ii) the scope and quality of management's
ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems.

The Board, through its reviews and the reviews made by the
internal audit department and the audit committee, concluded
that the risk management and internal control systems were
effective and adequate. Such systems, however, are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. It is
also considered that the resources, staff qualifications and
experience of relevant staff were adequate and the training
programs and budget provided were sufficient.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements of the Group in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards,
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and of the results of its operations and cash flows for that
period. The Directors also acknowledged their responsibilities
to ensure that the financial statements of the Group are
published in a timely manner.
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The Group had incurred a loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately RMB4,216 million for the year ended
31 December 2018 and recorded a net current liabilities and net
liabilities of approximately RMB5,796 million and RMB563
million as at 31 December 2018 respectively. In view of these
circumstances, the Directors have given consideration to the
future liquidity and performance of the Group and its available
sources of finance in assessing whether the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern. In
order to improve the Group's liquidity and cash flows to sustain
the Group as a going concern, the Group has implemented or
is in the process of implementing the following measures,
namely: (i) obtaining confirmations of banking facilities from
various financial institutions and banks in the PRC; (ii) entering
into loan renewal discussions with the banks in due course; and
(i) taking measures to tighten cost controls over various costs
and expenses and to seek business opportunities with the aim
to attain profitable and positive cash flow operations. After
taking into account the above measures, the Directors consider
that the Group will be able to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.
Therefore, the consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Save as the above, the Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor
on the financial statements of the Group are set out in the
"Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 73 to 81 of this

annual report.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting and putting forward proposals at Shareholders’
meetings

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or
more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company,
such as website, telephone hotline, fax number, email address
and postal address, in order to enable them to make any query
that they may have with respect to the Company. They can also
send their enquiries to the Board or the company secretary
through the above means. If Shareholders have any enquiries in
respect of their shareholdings and entitlements to dividend,
they may contact Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong
from time to time.

Constitutional Documents

There has been no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2018.

62 WUZHOU INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018

BREREF

BRAFBRERRAG RERRAGRSE
GOEESSE

WEABERAMAESS K NXERR
BHBAMARRRRAERARENALD
AIEGBRANDR+7 2 —iEM—frsk
DALH&% BEREREAFRAZEFTSHA
AAWERREMBRER  BREES
ﬁﬁﬁnuﬁ‘rﬂx%ﬁA Ba IR ER SR AT (T (] 35
8 MR AKE BN R EREEME A
RETT - MEEFSRENXEIRRER 21
BRBMERE®E  ARRARBERN
ABETBHNEHEH REAREFEX
RBNAFEEMELN —REFX -
AHARRBAEXN -

MEFSRHEANERF

ZAYNCIIRALI 8 VNN o D prN b
B EWHEE  BREAR GERI - E
vk R B4 - ERRBHEAR
FARARARIMNE# - RE A AE Eills
© MEFEHARAWEFLER - KR
WEEMBRESBEEREERNEH -
Tﬁ—_rTZ_HT% RARRNREBEBNBMD B
BRORBRAEBTREFECAERAT

EREXH
== /\=- e b R
ARRIMBERENAEEE -



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
PEESLIFLE o)

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Effective Communication with Shareholders and
Investors

As a showpiece of the Company facing the capital market, the
Board believes that a transparent and timely disclosure of the
Group's latest information will enable the Shareholders and
investors to have better understanding on the Group's
operations and strategies. The Company recognises the
importance of maintaining effective investor relations with the
existing and potential investors. To enhance the communication
between the Company and the investors, as well as to maintain
the transparency of the Company, the investor relations team
engages in providing effective ways for Shareholders and
investors to obtain latest company information. In addition to
the issue of monthly and quarterly newsletters and interim and
annual financial reports, the Company’s website at
“www.wz-china.com” also acts as a communication platform
with Shareholders and investors, where information and updates
on the Group's business developments and operations, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other
information are available for public access. The Company will
also actively respond to any enquiries raised by the
Shareholders and investors through emails and phone calls.
Meanwhile, the Company has also arranged company meetings,
telephone conferences, investors’ meetings, luncheons, site
visits and a number of non-deal road shows and actively
participated in a couple of global investors’ conferences and
forums held by investment banks.

The Board also considers that general meetings of the
Company provide a useful forum for Shareholders to exchange
views with the Board. The Chairman of the Board as well as the
chairmen and/or other members of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company have been invited to attend the annual general
meetings and other Shareholders’ meetings of the Company to
reply questions raised.
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As one of the measures to safeguard Shareholders’ interests
and rights, separate resolutions are proposed at Shareholders’
meetings on each substantial issue, including the election of
individual Directors, for Shareholders’ consideration and voting.
All resolutions proposed at general meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will
be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.wz-china.com) after
the relevant general meetings.

COMPANY SECRETARY

As at 31 December 2018, the company secretary of the
Company was Mr. Yeung Chi Lung. The Board had reviewed the
training and continuous professional development of the
company secretary during the year ended 31 December 2018
and considered that the requirements under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules in respect of the professional training of the
company secretary were complied with.
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Directors’ Biographies
EEEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Shu Cecheng (£ #), aged 50, is the Chairman of the
Group. Mr. Shu was appointed as a Director on 22 June 2010
and was re-designated as an executive Director on 14
November 2012. He resigned as an executive Director on 19
June 2019. He was the chairman of the nomination committee
of the Company before his resignation. He is the brother of Mr.
Shu Cewan; an executive Director, and the brother of Mr. Shu
Cezhang, the Group’s head of operations. Mr. Shu Cecheng
established the business of the Group in December 2004 and
has been primarily responsible for the overall business, financial
and strategic planning of the Group. Mr. Shu was also
responsible for the overall development of the Group's strategic
direction and corporate policies and played an important role in
the development, maintenance and strengthening of client
relations. Mr. Shu Cecheng has over ten years of experience in
the real estate development industry. He was a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Throughout the years, Mr. Shu
has held various positions in many professional organizations.
Mr. Shu was appointed as the chairman of the Council of China
SCMALL Academy in October 2009. Mr. Shu has also been
appointed as the committee member of the Wuxi Committee of
the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference since
June 2012, and the executive director of the fourth Wuxi Charity
Federation since May 2011. Mr. Shu is currently the chairman of
the Seventh Council of Wuxi Market Association, a member of
the Eleventh executive committee of Wuxi Association of
Industry and Commerce, vice chairman of Wuxi Chamber of
Commerce, vice chairman of the China Economic and Trade
Promotion Association, vice chairman of the Federation of
Private Enterprises of the Chinese Economy, executive vice
chairman of Zhejiang Market Association, executive chairman of
Hong Kong Wenzhou Entrepreneurs Association, chairman of
Hong Kong Taishun Fraternity Association and vice chairman of
Shanghai Jiangsu Chamber of Commerce.

Mr. Shu Cecheng obtained a master of business administration
issued by the Victoria University Switzerland. He also obtained a
master of business administration degree from the Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics.
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Mr. Shu Cewan (85K #), aged 48, is the Group's chief
executive officer. Mr. Shu Cewan was appointed as an executive
Director on 14 November 2012. He was appointed as the chief
executive officer of the Company on 19 June 2019. He resigned
as an executive Director and the chief executive officer on 23
July 2020. He was a member of the remuneration committee of
the Company. He is the brother of Mr. Shu Cecheng, the
Group's Chairman and Mr. Shu Cezhang, the Group's head of
operations. Mr. Shu Cewan was closely involved in the Group's
operations and oversaw all the key aspects of the Group's
operations and business, including the planning and
implementation of projects. Mr. Shu Cewan has over ten years
of experience in the real estate development industry, and he
has been with the Group since December 2004. Mr. Shu Cewan
was the general manager and vice-president of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Since joining the Group, Mr. Shu
Cewan has been responsible for the overall day-to-day
management of these Group companies, particularly in the
aspects of operation, administration, human resources
management and finance.

Mr. Shu Cewan was named a driving force figure in China’s
commercial property sector in 2010 by the organizing
committee of the Fifth Annual Conference of the Chinese
Commercial and Office Property Sector in May 2010. In March
2011, he was named among the most respected private
entrepreneurs in China by the Chinese Enterprise Evaluation
Association and Association for the Promotion of International
Cooperation and Development of Chinese Private Enterprises.
In November 2011, he was named an Influential personality in
the Chinese commercial property sector at the Chinese
Commercial Property Business Conference. He was granted the
title of Outstanding Private Entrepreneur of Jiangsu Province in
October 2014, the Personality for the Year in the Chinese
Market Economy Award in 2015 and the China Securities
"Golden Bauhinia” Award: CEO of the Best Listed Company in
2016. Since 2011, Mr. Shu Cewan has been the vice president of
Wuxi Wenzhou Chamber of Commerce. He is also the vice
chairman of the Federation of Chinese Private Enterprises, a
member of the Eighth Chong An District Committee (Wuxi) of
the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference, a
deputy to the Fifteenth National People’s Congress from
Taishun County, Wenzhou City and a council member of the
Chong An District Industrial and Commercial Federation in
Wuxi.
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Mr. Shu Cewan graduated from Jiangnan University with a
diploma in business management in July 2011. He obtained a
master of business administration issued by the Victoria
University Switzerland.

Mr. Zhu Yongqiu (KK ¥), aged 44, was appointed as an
executive Director on 7 August 2018. He is also the Assistant to
the President of the Group. Mr. Zhu joined the Group in 2013 as
the Assistant to the President of the Group as well as the
General Manager of Changchun Zhongnan Property
Development Co., Ltd., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, responsible for the complete management of the
Changchun Project, the Shenyang Project, the Mudanjiang
Project, the Hunan Loudi Project and the Group's development
projects in the north-east of the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

Mr. Zhu obtained a bachelor’'s degree in water supply and
drainage engineering from Chongqing Jianzhu University in July
1997 and a post-graduate diploma in environmental
engineering from Zhejiang University in July 2001. Mr. Zhu holds
the professional title certificate for Class | Architect.

Mr. Shen Xiaowei (JLBE{Z), aged 41, was appointed as an
executive Director on 7 August 2018. He joined the Group in
September 2017 and is also the Vice President of the Group in
charge of the financial matters. Mr. Shen obtained a diploma in
accounting from Nanjing Audit University in July 1998 and a
master's degree in business administration from Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics in 2014. Mr. Shen is a
registered tax agent and a certified public accountant in the
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Ms. Cai Qiaoling (¥153%), aged 36, was appointed as an
executive Director on 7 August 2018. She is also the Supervisor
of the President’s office of the Group. Ms. Cai joined the Group
in 2007 as the Supervisor of the President’s office of the Group,
and is responsible for legal matters of the Group. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Cai worked as an assistant at Shanghai
Jinxiao Law Firm in 2005 and 2006 where she assisted lawyers in
file management. Ms. Cai graduated from East China College
of Political Science and Law (now known as East China University
of Political Science and Law) with a diploma in law by self-study
in June 2004 and she was certified by the National Vocational
Qualification Examination Certification Centre as a senior
economist and a senior tax planner in November 2008 and
January 2009 respectively.

Mr. Zhou Chen (A=), aged 37, was redesignated from an
independent non-executive Director to an executive Director
on 7 August 2018. He was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 1 December 2017. Mr. Zhou was an
executive director and the company secretary of China Asia
Valley Group Limited ("China Asia Valley”) formerly known as
China Graphene Group Limited, a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, from February 2018 to June 2020.
Mr. Zhou has been the chief financial officer of Yamada Green
Resources Limited (listed on the main board of Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the "SGX")) since January
2018. He was the chief treasury officer of China Asia Valley from
June 2016 to January 2018 and was in charge of the group’s
accounting and corporate finance matters. Mr. Zhou was the
chief financial officer of Asia Fashion Holdings Limited (listed on
the main board of the SGX from October 2015 to June 2016.
Prior to that, Mr. Zhou had been a general manager of
investment and corporate finance of Bayon Airlines Holdings
Limited, a business control and risk manager of Tee
International Limited (listed on the SGX) and a finance manager
of a Singapore private company where he was in charge of
accounting and initial public offering process. Between 2008
and 2013, Mr. Zhou worked at Singapore local audit firms and
was responsible for, inter alia, the audit of companies
incorporated in China and listed on the SGX.
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Mr. Zhou is an affiliate of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (ACCA) and is a member of the Institute of
Singapore Chartered Accountants. Mr. Zhou obtained an
advance diploma in accountancy from Xiamen University in
December 2016 and obtained a bachelor of science in applied
accounting from Oxford Brookes University in July 2008.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wang Wei (E£&), who was born in October 1968, joined
Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Ltd. ("Ping An
Group”) in early 2013. Mr. Wang served as the managing
director of Ping An Real Estate Capital Ltd. from 2013 to 2018,
and has been the managing director of strategic investment of
Ping An Group's asset management center since August 2018.
Prior to joining Ping An Group, Mr. Wang served as an analyst
in the treasury department of the head office of Bank of China
Limited from 1991 to 1994, an associate, vice president and
senior vice president of the fixed income and equity capital
market divisions at J.P. Morgan (New York headquarters,
Singapore and Hong Kong) from 1994 to 2000 and 2002 to 2005,
a member of the China management committee, the managing
director and co-head of the China fixed income and derivatives
division at UBS Group (Hong Kong) from 2005 to 2007, a vice
president and the chief financial officer of Sunshine 100 China
Holdings Ltd. from 2008 to 2009, and the managing director
and China head of Forum Partners from 2009 to early 2013. Mr.
Wang was appointed as a non-executive Director on September
2014. Mr. Wang has over 25 years of extensive experience in
domestic and overseas capital markets with a focus on real
estate industry investment over the past 12 years. Mr. Wang
resigned as an non-executive Director on June 2018.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics, majoring
in international finance, from the department of world economy
of Fudan University in 1991, and a master’s degree in business
administration from Columbia Business School, the United
States in 2002.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Song Ming (R#), aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 May 2013. He is the
chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company and a
member of the audit committee and the nomination committee
of the Company. Dr. Song has over 26 years of experience in
the research of bank regulation and management, financial
market, derivatives and macroeconomics. Dr. Song was
employed by the school of economics and finance of the
University of Hong Kong as a professor from 1997 to 2018. Dr.
Song is the Dean of School of Economics and Management,
Wuhan University since 2018. Between 1991 and 1997, Dr. Song
was the associate professor and assistant professor at the
department of economics, Cleveland State University. Dr. Song
is currently the director of Centre for China Financial Research
at the University of Hong Kong. Dr. Song has been heavily
involved in various academic conferences, researches and
consultation projects.

Dr. Song has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the United Laboratories International Holdings
Limited, Guotai Junan International Holdings Limited, Great
Wall Pan Asia Holdings Limited and Tande Co, Ltd. since 2007,
2010, 2016 and 2015 respectively, the former three are
companies listed on the Stock Exchange and the latter is a
company with its A Shares listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange.

Dr. Song is currently the vice president of the Chinese Financial
Association of Hong Kong. Dr. Song has also been involved in
different advisory committees of the Hong Kong Government.
Dr. Song is a member of the Advisory Committee on Human
Resources Development in the Financial Services Sector in
Hong Kong.

Dr. Song graduated from Zhejiang University in July 1982 with a
bachelor degree in applied mathematics. Dr. Song obtained his
master degree in applied mathematics from Huazhong
University of Science and Technology (formerly known as
Huazhong Institute of Technology). Dr. Song was awarded a
doctorate degree by Ohio State University.
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Prof. Shu Guoying (&FBI&), aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 May 2013. He is a
member of the audit committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company and the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company. He has more than 30 years of
experience in the PRC law, particularly in the teaching of
jurisprudence and legal methodology.

Prof. Shu has held various teaching positions in the China
University of Political Science and Law ("CUPL") since 1987,
where he first started as a teaching assistant and was later
promoted to lecturer, associate professor and professor in 1988,
1994 and 2001 respectively. Prof. Shu has also been a member
of the Academic Committee of CUPL and a vice chairman of the
Academic Degrees Committee of CUPL since 2001, and a
chairman of the Professors Committee of Law Faculty at CUPL
since 2015. In addition, from 2006 to 2008, Prof. Shu was a part-
time professor of China Foreign Affairs University and has held
positions in many professional organizations. Prof. Shu has been
a member of the proposition committee of the Chinese
National Judicial Examination between 2002 and 2005 and a
member of the First Legislative and Legal Expert Committee of
the Beijing People’s Municipal Government between 2009 and
2014, and has been entitled to government special subsidy by
the State Council since 2016. Throughout his professional career
in the legal academia, Prof. Shu has published numerous books
and journal articles in the PRC.

Prof. Shu graduated from CUPL with a bachelor degree in law,
and later obtained a master degree in law.
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Mr. Liu Chaodong (8|FA3), aged 49, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 7 August 2018. He is
the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Liu has practicing
qualifications of registered accountant, registered tax agent,
forensic accounting practitioner and certified public valuer in
the PRC. He graduated from Anhui Jianghuai Vocational
University majoring in financial accounting and from Huazhong
University of Science and Technology majoring in legal studies
in 1990 and 2006 respectively. Mr. Liu served as the Chief
Accountant in Blue Star New Chemical Materials Co., Ltd. from
1991 to 1994 and as a Department Manager in Zhonglei
Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd. from 1994 to 1997. He is
currently the Deputy General Manager of the Foshan Branch of
Ruihua Certified Public Accountants (LLP).

Mr. Liu has been an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Grand Field Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 115), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since
August 2009.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
¥ 3 A% BT R &

il

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

WUZHOU INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
BMNEBREZERERLA

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Disclaimer of Opinion

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial
statements of Wuzhou International Holdings Limited (the
“"Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out
on pages 82 to 219, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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B ZEMERE @

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED #HR&EMEHMRBTHRE (8)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion BmEIRTNERCER
1. Limited accounting books and records of subsidiaries 1. HEMBAGRZERETHREIERST

disposed

As disclosed in note 42(a) to the consolidated financial
statement certain subsidiaries of the Company (the
“Disposal subsidiaries”) have been disposed or deemed
to have disposed for the year ended 31 December 2018,
the accounting books and records in respect of the
Disposal subsidiaries were unable to be obtained for the
year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. Due to the
insufficiency of supporting documentation and
explanations for accounting books and records in respect
of the Disposal subsidiaries, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as
to whether the loss on disposal of subsidiaries of
approximately RMB424,554,000 for the year ended 31
December 2018 have been accurately recorded and
properly accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements and the completeness of opening balances
and comparative figures of the Disposal subsidiaries.

55

BANER A B SRR M 5E42(a) T I 55
REE-_ZT—N\F+=-_A=+—H
EFE BERAIZATHEARF
([HEMBAR B LERBRIED
E REE-_Z—N\FER-Z—+
F+-_A=1+—HItFEXRERS
EHALENBAR 22 EREE R
e AN BRELHENBRAR 225
RERGEHE I EFRXHFRBEETT
B BRMAENESRS LEEHE
FHERE ULBRMEMARBEZ
—NF+_A=+—BLFELE
MMEB AR EBEEHOARE
424,554,000 7T =& & B R R A B 75 3R
REBEBERZABEANRARLEMH
Bz BVEHRELERETHE

Bt

For the
year ended
31 December
2017
BHE-_T—tF
+=ZA=+—H
LEFE
RMB’000
ARBTT

Income and expenses: WEHEREX
Revenue WA 770,039
Cost of sales $HE R AN (502,776)
Gross profit EH 267,263
Other income g 1,278
Distribution and selling expenses DENEERT (48,205)
Administrative expenses ERER (53,827)
Other expenses HithZE MR (380)
Finance costs BB A (2,074)
Income tax expense FTS BRI (49,736)
Profit for the year FRFE 114,319
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
B AR E @)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Continued)

BERTER AR (B

REVBBRRESRS (@)

1. Limited accounting books and records of subsidiaries 1. HEMBLATZ2EREEREERST
disposed (Continued) #% (48)
As at
31 December
2017
RZT—+tF
+—A=+—H
RMB’000
ARET T
Assets and liabilities: BEENEE:
Property, plant and equipment M - BB MR 10,360
Intangible assets BV EE 100
Long-term deferred expenses RERER 777
Deferred tax assets EEFIAE B 35,473
Investment cost AN 12,200
Investment properties wEYHE 1,044,925
Prepaid land lease payments TS AR SRR 972,347
Properties for sale under development EREPIFEYE 283,431
Properties held for sale FEYHE 584,763
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  JB{ 7B « 12 & K HAtb fE U IE 740,102
Current tax assets BIHAR IR & 2= 1,431
Trade receivables E 5 EWFIA 35,549
Bank and cash balances IRIT RIS R 215,145
Trade and bills payables B HENRIERENRE (306,941)
Other payables and accruals H b e B K e R B A (1,409,933)
Contract liabilities BHEE (773,433)
Borrowings BE (165,000
Deferred tax liabilities EERIARE (124,769)
Net assets FEE 1,156,580
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
B BET R E )

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Continued)

2. Limited accounting books and records of a subsidiary

As explained in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, &5 MBI RN ABR AR (Wuxi Wuzhou
International Ornamental City Co., Ltd), a subsidiary of the
Company has been under a pending litigation and relevant
accounting books and records has been held in custody by
the court. Due to the insufficiency of supporting
documentation and explanations for accounting books
and records the said subsidiary, we were unable to carry
out audit procedures to satisfy ourselves as to whether the
following income and expenses for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017 and the assets and liabilities as
at 31 December 2018 and 2017, and the segment
information and other related disclosure notes in relation
to the Group, as included in the consolidated financial

REVBBRRESRS (@)

BERTERZER (B

2. —ZFHBRAZERETHRERT
8%

ﬂﬁﬂiﬁAﬁﬁﬁ%iﬁi‘%WE}ﬁfﬁ; g
REZ — KM B R E & BB
KEMAR A RAE —HARRFRK
1‘@?%5.:%!%%&@%?%&&1%5%
B-dmHRBEZNEBA R
YN AL EHYFF&%#%T}EE
ﬁszHﬁ ERITEA R LA/\ﬁsz'ﬁ
EMTIEBE T NFRZ
—t¢+_ﬂ_+ EJtiFZH&
ANMAXER-ZZ-—NER_Z
—tHE+-A=t—HZEEKE

B ARDHEMEEME &
EEMAERENE( BRER

BUBHREMEE) REENEA M

statements of the Group, have been accurately recorded MR EELEE N L BARE
and properly accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements.
For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
BE-ZE— N\ BE_ZT—F
+=—A=+—-8B +=ZH=+—H
LFE LEFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBTT
Income and expenses: WEREX
Revenue WA 76,449 o
Cost of sales SHERA (7,904) =
Gross profit EF 68,545 =
Other income H b gz 4,200 67,217
Distribution and selling expenses SIENREERY (9,451) (7,845)
Administrative expenses EIRER (52,919) (46,306)
Other expenses HEmBR (876) 81)
Income tax expense T ERiF = (7,355)
Profit for the year FERFE 9,499 5,630
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
B AR E @)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Continued)

REVBBRRESRS (@)

BERTERZER (B

2. Limited accounting books and records of a subsidiary 2. —ZMBAGRAIZEREFTHREERST
(Continued) 8% (48)
As at 31 December
R+=—AR=+—H
2018 2017
—EBE-N\FE —ZT—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Assets and liabilities: EERERE:
Trade receivables H 5 WA 5,640 8,134
Prepayments, deposits and other TANRIE ~ He REAM
receivables JE W SR8 815,830 649,438
Properties for sale under development 2E R {FE W 169,282 169,401
Properties held for sale FEME 139,656 147,483
Trade and bills payables B 5 RNRIEMENEE (141,096) (280,692)
Contract liabilities aHaE (16,240) (32,140
Accruals and other payables FEstE R M A ER A (484,585) (164,535)
Net assets BEFE 488,487 497,089

3. Trade receivable and prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

In addition to point 2 above, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as
to (i) the recoverability of trade receivables of
approximately RMB67,496,000 and prepayments, deposits
and other receivables of approximately RMB908,074,000
respectively as at 31 December 2018; (ii) the carrying
amount of trade receivables of approximately
RMB67,496,000 and prepayments, deposits and other
receivables of approximately RMB908,074,000 respectively
as at 31 December 2018 are fairly stated; and (iii) whether
the impairment for trade receivables of approximately
RMB38,925,000 and prepayments, deposits and other
receivables of approximately RMB743,641,000 respectively
for the year ended 31 December 2018 are properly
recorded.

3.

BEZRURERBANRE EER
H ftb fE W =R E

Br EXXCE 285N - HPIKRGERS TS
NEEMETRE - LS4 3)
NI D T el
S W FRIE 4 A R & 67,496,000 7T &
ERRE - B M HAEWGRIED
A R #908,074,000 7T # AT U @] 14
(N /NE+= FE i
EoRWHRBZEMEHNARE
67,496,000 T R FEM A - ek H
tEKRBEBZEAENARE
908,074,000 7B AF 25! : K (iii) &
F-Z— \GuaE B ZesR- H | &
EzESRWHREZREHARE
38,925,000t R FRIE ~ e R E
HERREZBEHNARE
743,641,000 T2 G B & ALk ©
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

B ZEMERE @

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Continued)

4. Properties for sale under development and properties
held for sale

In addition to point 2 above, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as
to (i) the recoverability of properties for sale under
development of approximately RMB1,778,610,000 and
properties held for sale of approximately
RMB3,168,183,000 respectively as at 31 December 2018; (ii)
the carrying amount of properties for sale under
development of approximately RMB1,778,610,000 and
properties held for sale of approximately
RMB3,168,183,000 respectively as at 31 December 2018
are fairly stated; and (iii) whether the impairment for
properties for sale under development of approximately
RMB476,934,000 and properties held for sale of
approximately RMB470,818,000 respectively for the year
ended 31 December 2018 are properly recorded.

5. Investments in associates and share of loss of associates

We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to (i) whether the carrying
amounts of investments in associates of approximately
RMB319,071,000 and RMB71,405,000 as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 respectively are fairly stated; (ii) the Group's
share of loss of associates of approximately RMB62,619,000
and RMB6,234,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018
and 2017 respectively are fairly stated, and (jii) the accuracy
of the disclosures in relation to the investments in
associates.
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BERTERZER(B)

4,

REPREURRSENR

bR ESCE 285N - BAFIRERGER D
MEEMNETRE - USRS )
RZF—-—N\FE+-_A=+—RH2%
BHREEMELN AR 1,778,610,000
TR FEEL AR 3,168,183,000
THARE W (\RZF—N\F
TZRA=T—BIZERFPHEEWE
2 BREEL AR1,778,610,000 7T
LEEWMEZEAEHNARE
3,168,183,000 T E A F 2% : K (iii)
HE-_FT-)/\F+=ZA=+—HL
FREZERPHEEMEZREDA
R ¥ 476,934,000 7T & 1 E W % 2 8
B AREA470,818000 TR D H
AECEE o

REZEATNRERSEHEQT
| Ei]
BMRERB D LEEHETR
& ALERMEAOR_ZE—N\F
e mmees e | on Hies e Bl 7S
HENRMIREZEREE(DNA
A = RlonnI s N B
714050007t ) REE A E L3
(il EEEREBEE_ZT—/\Fk=
= b= BT
EHEAABEIINARE
62,619,000 7T & A R #6,234,0007T
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
B AR E @)

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Continued)

6.

Investments in a joint venture and share of loss of a
joint venture

We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to (i) whether the carrying
amounts of investments in a joint venture of approximately
RMB87,126,000 as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are fairly
stated; (ii) whether the Group has any share of result of a
joint venture for the year ended 31 December 2018 and
RMB12,874,000 for the year ended 31 December 2017 are
fairly stated, and (iii) the accuracy of the disclosures in
relation to the investments in a joint venture.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to (i) whether the fair value
on investments at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately RMB1,438,697,000 and RMB1,560,284,000
as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 respectively are fairly
stated; (ii) the fair value changes on investments at fair
value through profit or loss of approximately
RMB69,962,000 and RMB5,099,000 for the year ended 31
December 2018 and 2017 are fairly stated; and (iii) the
accuracy of the disclosures in relation to the investments at
fair value through profit or loss.

REVBBRRESRS (@)

BERTERZER(B)

6.

R—REEQXANRERDE—R
BERRER

BRGNS TS LEENETR
B USHERMEMONR_E—N\F
FZT—+F+-_A=+—HZR
—XEEBERAINKREZERAEBEOA
R¥87,126,000 L2 BEERF 275
(il EEEREE_FT—N\F+=
A=+—BLFEELEEEMAEN
BERAMNEBERREE_Z—+
F+_A=Zt+—BULFEEEEE
NAIMFEEARE 12,874,000 25
BERAFEN: RiilEER—KEE
NAEIMIGE 2 R 2 FEREE o

BAVEFABRZRE

BMRERS Y REENETR
FHUSERMAEHNONR T —N\F
T+ F+_A=+—HB2&
AFEFABEZZREZ AFE (S
B4 B N R #41,438,697,000 7T B2 A
R ¥1,560,284,0007T) @G ERF2
Bl EBEE_ZE—N\FR_F
—+tE+ = A=+ —BHiEEERA
FEFABRZEEZATEE

DRI A R ¥ 69,962,000 7T M A R
5,099,000 TCE AF 2% ¢ K (i) B #8
BEAFEFABRZEREZEEZ
AR o
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

B ZEMERE @

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Continued)
8. Going concern

We draw attention to note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements which mentions that the Group incurred loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB4,215,744,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018
and as at 31 December 2018 the Group has net current
liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
RMB5,795,712,000 and RMB563,387,000 respectively.
These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis on the assumption that the
proposed restructuring of the Company will be successfully
completed, and that, following the restructuring, the
Group will continue to meet in full its financial obligations
as they fall due in the foreseeable future. The consolidated
financial statements do not include any adjustments that
would result from a failure to complete the restructuring.
We consider that the disclosures are adequate. However,
in view of the extent of the uncertainties relating to the
completion of the restructuring, we disclaim our opinion in
respect of the material uncertainties relating to the going
concern basis.

9. Contingent liabilities

No sufficient evidence has been provided to satisfy
ourselves as to the existence and completeness of the
disclosures of contingent liabilities arising from litigations
as at 31 December 2018.

Any adjustments to the figures as described from points 1 to 9
above might have a significant consequential effect on the
Group's results and cash flows for the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017 and the financial positions of the Group as at 31
December 2018 and 2017, and the related disclosures thereof in
the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
B AR E @)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting
Standard Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group's
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue
an auditor’s report. However, because of the matters described
in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we
were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated
financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
"Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Hon Chung

Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P05988
Hong Kong, 18 August 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
mEBEaREMEE KSR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&Z_FT—\F+_A=1+—HBILFE

2018 2017
—E-NFE —ZT—+F
Notes RMB'000 RMB‘000
B RE AR®T R ARET T
(Restated)
(g&E7)
Revenue WA 9 3,100,926 3,545,671
Cost of sales HEK A (2,199,900) (2,862,858)
Gross profit EF 901,026 682,813
Other income HAb Wz 10 41,872 255,907
Distribution and selling expenses S NREERY (223,964) (271,081)
Administrative expenses BB (406,847) (329,203)
Other expenses HiEH = (18,337)
Change in fair value of investment & &Y E A FEE )
properties (877,235) 262,254
Change in investment at fair value A EFTABRZ 2K EEE)
through profit or loss (69,962) -
Impairment loss on various assets ~ FIAEE ZREEE (1,789,951) (27,869)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENBRAE ZEE (424,554) -
Share of result of associates FE(REEE AR S (62,619) (6,234)
Share of result of a joint venture BiH—RaBERRIES - (12,874)
Finance costs ELE=N59IN 12 (1,019,692) (813,518)
Loss before tax FAEE (3,931,926) (278,142)
Income tax expenses IREY A 13 (307,602) (296,351)
Loss for the year FRER 14 (4,239,528) (574,493)
Items that will not be reclassified S FEEHF T EBEEIER
to profit or loss: 2O
Gains on property revaluation S E =R PN - 252,062
Income tax on items that will not BEressmoBaiER
be reclassified to profit or loss ZIEB 2SR = (63,016)
Total comprehensive loss FRAEHEEEAE
for the year (4,239,528) (385,447)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)

rEBEaREMEZEHKER®

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &Z_FT—\F+_A=1+—HBILFE

2018 2017
—B-N\F T LF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
LiEsd AR¥TRT ARETT
(Restated)
(F&&:75)
Loss for the year attributable to: LT & FEEFERER :
Owners of the Company ZN/NCIEZZEWN (4,215,744) (516,562)
Non-controlling interests JETERE e (23,784) (57,931)
(4,239,528) (574,493)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income LT & 7 B{H FEREMH
for the year attributable to: (B518), WA
Owners of the Company RARERA (4,215,744) (395,148)
Non-controlling interests JEIE RS (23,784) 9,701
(4,239,528) (385,447)
Loss per share BREER 17 RMB cents RMB cents
AR® S AR D
Basic and diluted HEARKREE (84.48) (10.35)




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mEMBERREK

At 31 December 2018 R-ZE—N\FE+=-_A=+—8H

At 31 December

At 31 December

At 1 January

2018 2017 2017
R-B-NFE RIT—+tF RIT+F
+-A=+-B +=ZA=+—H —H—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BisE AR¥T ARETTT ARETTT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&%) (&E5)
Non-current assets *RBEE
Property, plant and equipment  #1% + & K & 1E 18 147,085 165,260 251,468
Investment properties REME 19 7,501,600 9,474,999 8,522,900
Prepaid land lease payments  F&{J i EFE 20 - - 761,085
Goodwill RS 21 - 59,633 -
Intangible assets WL EE 1,301 723 2,875
Investments in associates REEE N RIMIRE 23 319,071 71,405 57,640
Investments in a joint venture ~ RN—RABABMIKE 22 87,126 87,126 -
Investments at fair value BATESABRZIRE
through profit or loss 24 11,626 755,805 271,850
Long-term deferred expenses & HAIEIERI 2 661 2,048 1,114
Deferred tax assets EXEFHBEE 38 - 262,583 187,196
Prepayments, deposits and BRRE  RZE K
other receivables HoA e W kR 28 - 90,592 -
Pledged deposit BEHEATR 29 - 90,000 -
8,068,470 11,060,174 10,056,128
Current assets RBEE
Inventories rE 114 479 15,183
Properties for sale under BRPTEME
development 25 2,510,955 3,215,751 3,519,156
Properties held for sale FEME 26 4,235,808 3,490,315 3,532,799
Trade receivables Z WA 27 88,427 169,080 46,451
Prepayments, deposits and BRRE  EZE R
other receivables Hib U TRIA 28 1,891,701 2,056,509 1,694,834
Prepaid land lease payments  JE{f + it 7 E 7B 20 350,321 2,283,575 523,011
Investments at fair value BATERARR
through profit or loss B 24 1,427,071 804,479 246,275
Current tax assets BIEATIEE E - - 75,208
Restricted bank balances SRR EIRI T8 29 130,807 165,302 92,470
Pledged deposits EEAER 29 150,998 1,236,199 1,982,599
Bank and cash balances BITNRS &8 29 250,885 363,494 1,685,744
11,037,087 13,785,183 13,413,730

84 WUZHOU INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

LEMBERREK @

At 31 December 2018 R-ZE—N\EF+=-_HA=+—8H

At 31 December At 31 December

At 1 January

2018 2017 2017
R-B-NE RZT—F RNZT—+F
+-A=+-B +=ZA=+—H —H—H
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
B sk AR%T ARBF T AREF T
(Restated) (Restated)
(&2E7)) (&&E7)
Current liabilities hRBEE
Trade and bills payables BHRNTIERENRR 30 2,837,865 2,714,582 3,164,463
Contract liabilities BHEE 32 3,223,044 3,443,466 2,899,039
Accruals and other payables &zt & B K H 4 B 0B 37 2,879,106 2,082,782 1,179,277
Derivative financial instruments {744 T E = - 23,728
Borrowings BTE 33 2,472,558 3,244,992 3,494,704
Convertible notes ABRRER 34 423,141 596,021 684,840
Senior notes BLEE 35 2,082,930 2,041,538 -
Corporate bonds NGIEE: 36 2,048,692 1,906,473 508,689
Current tax liabilities ENERTIA B R 865,463 842,122 914,134
16,832,799 16,871,976 12,868,874
Net current (liabilities)/assets & (E&) EEFHE (5,795,712) (3,086,793) 544,856
Total assets less current BEAERARBERE
liabilities 2,272,758 7,973,381 10,600,984
Non-current liabilities ¥nRBeE
Borrowings BE 33 1,224,902 2,359,727 2,285,514
Senior notes BLER 35 = - 2,126,449
Corporate bonds NEEF 36 1,139,956 1,063,303 1,515,131
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHEEE 38 471,287 764,454 523,595
2,836,145 4,187,484 6,450,689
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (BB EERE (563,387) 3,785,897 4,150,295
Capital and reserves BRAK &
Share capital M7 39 313,354 313,354 313,354
Reserves & 40 (1,275,860) 2,936,057 3,331,205
Equity attributable to owners R RIHHB AEIEHER
of the Company (962,506) 3,249 411 3,644,559
Non-controlling interests IR 2 399,119 536,486 505,736
TOTAL EQUITY A (563,387) 3,785,897 4,150,295

The consolidated financial statements on pages 82 to 219 were £ 82E219B Z G MEHKEIN T
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on T /\ A+ /\ BEE S &b K& Z7E T3

18 August 2020 and are signed on its behalf by: YHUTATREES
Shen Xiaowei Zhou Chen
B AR
Director Director
EFE E
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REEZBBR

For the year ended 31 December 2018

BE-T—\E+-A=+—AILEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RDFAERAEL
(Accumulated
Share Statutory Available- Property losses)/ Non-
Share Share Capital option reserve for-sale revaluation retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve funds ~ investments reserve profits Total interests Total
#hE EERE e nEEf  (BHEE)/
Bx RfEE BAGR i -5 R& i RERE & FERER it
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETRL ARBTR ARBTT ARETT ARETRL ARBTT ARBTT ARETT  ARETR ARBTT ARBTT
At 1 January 2017 e 313354 1299010 86,371 18,840 313386 242 - 155,020 3644559 505,73 4150295
Effect of changes in SHAREY 72
accounting policies (Kist2)
[note 2) - - - - - 22 - (242) - - -
At 1 January 2017, WZE-t5-f-8-
as restated 455 313354 1299010 86,371 18,840 313386 - - 195359 3644559 505,73 4150295
Capttalcontribution from WELREERER
non-controling equity FRALE
holders of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 1,045 1,045
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHELT - - - - - - - - - 14,984 14,984
Total comprehensive EnzEYE/(BB)
income/lloss) for the year et - - - - - - 12144 (516,562) (395,148) 9,701 (385,447)
Disposal of subsidiaies HEKBAR - - - - - - - - - (4.980) (4980)
Appropriations to RIERRBEE
statutory surplus reserve - - - - B43 - - 2343 - - -
Equity settled share RAEEEREDH
option arrangements - - - (18,840) - - - 18,840 - - -
At31 December 2017, RE-tF12R
as restated =+-f &%) 31334 1299010 86,371 - 39,809 - 121414 1032453 329411 53,486 3785897
At 1 January 2018 W-E-N\5-A-8 313,354 1,299,010 86,371 - 396,809 - 121414 1,032,453 3249411 536,486 3,785,897
Total comprehensive loss FREEEELE
forthe year - - - - - - - (425744 (4215748 (23,784 (4.239,528)
Capital contributon from WEARARE
non-controling equity holders ~ EEEAZE
of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 8,000 8,000
Purchases of non-controllng B EFH{RER
interests - - - - - - - 3827 3821 (8973) (5,146)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAT - - - - (51,013) - - 51,013 - (112,610 (112,610)
Appropriations to RIVETRAEE
statutory surplus reserve - - - - 7938 - - (7,938) - - -
At31 December 2018 RZE-N\E
+=A=1-A 313,354 1,299,010 86,371 - 353,734 - 121414 (3,136,389) (962,506) 399,119 (563,387)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &Z_FT—\F+_A=1+—HBILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TRT ARETT
(Restated)
(#&&:75)
Cash flows from operating activities K& EEFERERE
Loss before income tax PR1S TR Es 18 (3,931,926) (278,142
Adjustments for: FHEE
Finance costs BENA 1,019,692 813,518
Share of results of associates e NI 62,619 6,234
Share of results of a joint venture BE—RAEERFEE - 12,874
Interest income N6 (5,233) (20,118)
Depreciation e 8,466 39,016
Amortisation of intangible assets ER S R 468 1,144
Amortisation of long-term deferred = B R B =7 2 8
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEWE BEMKEIEEB
property, plant and equipment, net 2R (WA) F5E 162 (718)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR BB (WKA) 424,554 (44,827)
Fair value change of investment at BRATEGFABRZEKEZ
fair value through profit or loss NHEEE) 69,962 (5,099)
Gain on disposal of investments at HERATFEGFABREZ
fair value through profit or loss & Z WA - (29,827)
Change in fair value of KREMENTEES
investment properties 877,235 (262,254)
Change in fair value of derivative PTESRI AR EES
financial instruments - (23,728)
Impairment loss on various assets FIHEEEZREEIE 1,789,951 27,869

AMBEBRIER AR AR / 2018 FF R 87



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

MERERER®

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #EHZE_-Z

—NFt-A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARETT
(Restated)
(#&&:75)
Operating cash flows before LEESEPHI I LERERE
working capital changes 316,560 237,161
Change in long-term deferred expenses KHIEILR Sz ~ &) - (2,153)
Change in inventories FEZEE) 365 14,704
Change in properties for sale under BERPGFENMFEMEZE
development and for sale (783,286) 680,013
Change in trade receivables B ZEWRIE 2 E &) 6,179 (96,684)
Change in investment properties % 5%%2/%@} 1,512 258,786
Change in prepayments, deposits and ~ FBfFIE « & &
other receivables /HJ‘@)?EHQMIEZ%@J (925,840) (278,998)
Change in prepaid land lease payment ﬁﬁif@fﬁgﬁﬁzm = (1,153,152
Change in financial assets at fair value ~ ZAF(EFFAEZ
through profit or loss PRIEEZE @J - 18,469
Change in restricted bank balance RREIRITAER BB (34,495) (72,832)
Change in trade and bills payables B REMNFIAER
ENREZEE) 430,223 (481,514)
Change in other payables and accruals ﬁﬁﬂ)"iﬁ RI8 &
EEtER & 1,763,278 266,945
Change in contract liabilities ’7%%25}‘@] 553,010 377,629
Cash generated from/(used in) RERBAE (TR RE
operations 1,327,506 (231,626)
Tax paid B FIE (226,980) (243,930)
Net cash generated from/(used in) KESTEME (AR RE
operating activities 1,100,526 (475,556)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

RERERER @

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZE_—Z

—NFt-A=1+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TRT ARETT
(Restated)
(#e &%)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHMEBRERE
Acquisition of subsidiaries W BB A ) - (123,490)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEME R F] (173,029) 155,141
Deem disposal of subsidiaries RIELHEMBAR (38,116) -
Investment in an associate R —KEEE R R E - (20,000)
Investment in joint venture REEREINRE = (100,000)
Purchase of property, BEEYE BB MRE
plant and equipment (813) (72,201)
Purchase of intangible assets BEERVEE (1,146) 71)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE BEK
plant and equipment RABFTS A 20,720 7,897
Proceeds from disposal of HERTEEFSRIA
intangible assets - 948
Purchase of investment at fair value BERAFEFFABR
through profit or loss A = (1,079,087)
Proceeds from disposal of investment ~ HERAFEFAEBTFZ
at fair value through profit or loss WEEHIAE 50,000 55,807
Interest received 24 F 8 5,233 20,118
Addition of investment property NEREMFE - (140,271)
Changes in pledged deposits EERERZEE 137,434 656,400
Net cash generated from/(used in) REZTEME (AR RE
investing activities 283 (638,809)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

MERERER®

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #EHZE_-Z

—NFt-A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ETR AR®TT
(Restated)
(#e &%)
Cash flows from financing activities mﬂﬁxﬁﬁﬁﬂ%fﬂﬁ}ﬁ
Net proceeds from issue of BITRRIBESF G FHE
corporate bonds - 988,998
Repayment of corporate bonds BEARES - (120,000)
Capital contributions from MR R IEERER A ATE
non-controlling equity holders
of subsidiaries - 11,045
Repayment of convertible notes BiRa]BRIREE (179,664) (138,290)
Proceeds from borrowings EESNIAE 469,771 3,554,235
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (1,174,263) (3,729,734)
Interest paid BB (437,081) (625,672)
Net cash generated from MEEBHREREFE
financing activities (1,321,237) (59,418)
Net decrease in cash and RERASEEYRL FH
cash equivalents (220,428) (1,173,783)
Cash and cash equivalents FYREMRNEEEY
at beginning of year 363,494 1,685,744
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate  [& i, & &) f/ & 107,819 (148,467)
Cash and cash equivalents ﬁ*fﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁéﬁﬁw
at end of year 250,885 363,494
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RERBEZEY DM
Bank and cash balances WITRIAE4E 250,885 363,494
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &Z_FT—\F+_A=1+—HBILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability. The address
of its head office and principal place of business is located
at Unit 5105, 51/F, The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong. The Company's shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”) and have been suspended for trading
shares since 3 September 2018.

The Company is an investment holding company. During
the year, the Group, comprising the Company and its
subsidiaries, was principally involved in property
development, property investment and the provision of
property management services in the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC").

BASIS OF PREPARATION

On 4 July 2018, the Company announced among other
things that (i) an event of default had occurred and was
continuing under the indenture agreement dated 26
September 2013 for the issuance of the US$300,000,000
13.75% Senior Notes Due 2018 (the “Notes”), (i) the Group
has defaulted on principal repayments of certain loans and
received notices from its creditors demanding early
repayment or declaring certain loans to be immediately
due and payable, and (iii) certain creditors had initiated
litigations against the Company and/or its subsidiaries in
the PRC.

On 10 August 2018, it was further announced that the
Group had been experiencing going concern issues as it
was not in a position to settle those of its financial liabilities
which have fallen due.

—REHR

AARERERSFMKLAE K
EREEREMT AR - EAI
REZLEMBUNETEERFRNE
R 995EFRIRA 515105 % ° AQ
AR ERSBAERSTBERA R
(TBRFDEREMETE=ZZ—N
FLAZHREEEERD -

ARRRB/—FKREZEB AT - F£A
AEBE(BRARANREWMB LT
TERPEARKMBE(THED R
EMEER DEREREHDE
B AR

A

RZZFE—N\FEAMNB ' ARRE
H(ERBEE)OWRERHER-Z
—=FNAZ+ A "BEBEET_Z
— J\4F %I H§ ZX € %E 300,000,000 % 7T
13.75%BARB([EH&]) HEOH
FTHENSHEBREYRFEE
T ArEEEBREEETEX
LA WEEHEGRAZRIE
FPEFSEME T EREIRFE B
AEEMNBNE  Kiie TEREA
HEAQNRRHKEHBRRRE
B4R H AR 7R o

R-ZZE-—NFNR+H FEEE
—SEMAEEABTHEHERBMB
B ASELHGRHELCENRH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued)

REMBHRRHE®

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #EHZE_-Z

2.

92

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

On 2 September 2018, the Company announced that the
publication of the interim results for the six months period
ended 30 June 2018, and the despatch of the
corresponding interim report would be delayed. On 3
September 2018, trading in the shares of the Company on
the Stock Exchange was suspended at the request of the
Company.

On 17 September 2018, the Company announced that it
has formed a special investigation committee to
investigate certain suspected transfers of equity interest of
subsidiaries which had not been approved by the board of
directors of the Company (the "Board”) (the “Suspected
Unapproved Transfers”). Subsequently, an independent
advisor was engaged to perform an independent review
into the Suspected Unapproved Transfers.

By way of letters dated 13 November 2018 and 16 October
2019, the Stock Exchange imposed the following
Resumption Guidance for the Company:

(i) Publish all outstanding financial results and address
any audit modifications;

(i) Conduct an appropriate investigation into the
Suspected Unapproved Transfers, announce findings
and take appropriate remedial actions;

(i) Demonstrate its compliance with Rule 13.24 of the
Listing Rules;

(iv) Inform the market of all material information for
shareholders and investors to appraise the
Company's position;

(v Demonstrate the Company has in place adequate
internal controls and procedures to comply with the
Listing Rules;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued)

REMBHRRHE®

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZE_—Z

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(vi) Demonstrate that there is no reasonable regulatory
concern about management integrity and/or the
integrity of any persons with substantial influence
over the Company’'s management and operations,
which will pose a risk to investors and damage market
confidence; and

(vii) Demonstrate that all directors of the Company meet
a standard of competence commensurate with their
position as directors of a listed issuer to fulfil duties of
skill, care and diligence as required under Rules 3.08
and 3.09 of the Listing Rules.

On 5 December 2019, Due to a pending litigation with #&
5 FMBIFR Ik B PR A &) (Wuxi Wuzhou International
Ornamental City Co., Ltd), a subsidiary of the Company,
the accounting books and records of the subsidiary has
been held in custody by the court under an execution
order.

The Company received a letter (the “Letter”) from the
Stock Exchange on 13 March 2020, the Listing Committee
of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Committee”) decided
to cancel the Company’s listing under listing rules (the
"Delisting Decision”). It is indicated in the Letter that, if
the Company decides not to request the Delisting
Decision be referred to the Listing Review Committee of
the Stock Exchange for review pursuant the listing rules,
the last day of listing of the shares of the Company would
be on 27 March 2020, and the listing of the shares of the
Company would be on 30 March 2020.

On 24 March 2020, the Company has submitted a request
to the Listing Review Committee for review of the Delisting
Decision pursuant to the Listing Rules.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued)

AR

2.

94

EMBERERMET

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #EHZE_-Z

—NFt-A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2. WAEEEE)
The Company, together with its professional advisors is Apa R EFE RN ELRIUEE
taking steps to implement the Group's restructuring and is Lﬁ$’§ lﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ BN
preparing a submission to the Listing Review Committee. ZESERER °
Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement dated 25 BENEHFHE-—ZBIE="FEX
December 2017 entered into between the Group and an Sz AE-_ZE—+F+ A
independent third party purchaser, the purchaser agreed “+HREMEBEwWSE EHRERE
to purchase and the Group agreed to sell 100% equity EMAEEREHSHER _:E/JH!B%\%
interest in Xuyi Wuzhou Property Co., Ltd* BFE FLMNEIPR & EXARAT(THERFL)H100%
¥EBR7A7A] (the “Disposal Company”) in an aggregate Mt - 48 K E = A K 350,000,000
consideration of RMB350,000,000. However, the disposal TLe AR RZE—NFHESHE
was terminated during the year 2018, the assets and ERIE PERFBIFEHEZHER
liabilities comprising the disposal company classified as AICEENBEERRAVBRE
held for sale are in changes in the consolidated amounts ERNEECREHOT ¢
reported in the consolidated financial statements as
follows:
2017
—tF
RMB’000
ARBTTT
Property, plant and equipment E NI S 54
Properties held for sale under development BRAFEME 171,074
Investment properties REME 504,500
Intangible assets B EE 103
Trade receivables g 5 RWRIE 4,623
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FaNFIE - ZeEX
H fth FE YRR 58,158
Bank and cash balances RIT RIS ER 1125
Assets held for sale BIELECEE #55,137)
Trade and bills payables B SN FRIERENER (141,953)
Accruals and other payables JEET & A KHE M R FIR (350,388)
Advances from customers L ES SR (48,145)
Borrowings BE (4,900)
Deferred tax liabilities BELEMIBEE (44,904)
Liabilities directly associated with B EHEZ BE
assets held for sale HEMEENEE 590,290
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued)

REMBHRRHE®

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZE_—Z

3.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of RMB4,215,744,000 for the year ended 31
December 2018 and as at 31 December 2018 the Group
had net current liabilities and net liabilities of
RMB5,795,712,000 and RMB563,387,000 respectively.
These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore,
the Group may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis on the basis that the
restructuring of the Group will be successfully completed,
and that, following the restructuring, the Group will
continue to meet in full its financial obligation as they fall
due in the foreseeable future.

The directors are therefore of the opinion that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. Should the Group
be unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to the consolidated financial
statements to adjust the value of the Group's assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities,
respectively.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs") that are relevant to its operations and effective
for its accounting year beginning on 1 January 2018. IFRSs
comprise International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRS"); International Accounting Standards (“IAS"); and
Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised
IFRSs did not result in significant changes to the Group's
accounting policies, presentation of the Group's financial
statements and amounts reported for the current year and
prior years except as stated below.

3.

—NFt-A=1+—HILFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued)

mEMBERERMET @

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&Z_FT—\F+_A=1+—HBILFE

4. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 4.
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (Continued)

A

96

IFRS 9 (2014) "Financial Instruments”

Available-for-sale investments are now classified as

investments at fair value through profit or loss.

IFRS 9 (2014) has been applied retrospectively and
resulted in changes in the consolidated amounts

reported in the consolidated financial statements as

FE PR ¥ 5] I A 45 RT RO B B Bt 15

&R (40)

BB RELEAF IR (=
Z-NF)E@MTA]

AHEERERDBER/RAF
BFFABZEZIRE -

BB E ERE R (=F
—OEF) BEPEM - WEHER
EMBHRRPERZAETH

follows: HEINT -
31 December 1 January
2017 2017
—E—t+E T+
+=BA=+—H —H—H
RMB'000 RMB‘000
ARE®TR ARETTT
At 31 December 2017: R-E—t&
+=ZA=+—8:
Decrease in available for sale A ERER D
investments (1,547,984) (518,125)
Increase in investments at fair EAFERAER
value through profit or loss AN 1,547,984 518,125
Decrease in available for sale At S 18 E R
investments reserves (1,932) (2,422)
Increase in retained profits REE AL AN 1,932 2,422
For the year ended BE-Z—tF
31 December 2017: = Pl i
Increase in other income H A Wz 1 A0 2,677
Increase in income tax expenses P15 58 S 18 N (745)
Decrease in other comprehensive  Efth 2 E W28 4
income (1,932)
Decrease in EPS (cents) AR (5) 0.04

WUZHOU INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued)

mEMBERERMET @

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &Z_FT—\F+_A=1+—HBILFE

4. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 4. FERHE] R AIEET HY B BR Bt 7%
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING HEER (&)
STANDARDS (Continued)
B. IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with B. BB HREERNEISHE
Customers” [BEFE&#HWE]
IFRS 15 has been applied retrospectively and resulted B R B s s #E R EE 1558 2 B
in changes in the consolidated amounts reported in WIER  WEMGZESMBEHRE
the consolidated financial statements as follows: RERZGESEEERMT ¢
31 December 1 January
2017 2017
—B—tF —ZT—tF
+=A=+—H —H—H
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR®BTT
Increase in contract liabilities BB FEEMN 3,443,466 2,899,039
Decrease in advances from TEUE P FOR
customers (3,443,466) (2,899,039)
The Group has not applied the new IFRSs that have been ANE B R R E A B B MR R AR
issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already MBI B Bl &R - XREER
commenced an assessment of the impact of these new e AT {h 52 ¥ 5] BIBR B B s 5
IFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether these A8 W RERAZEFNE
new IFRSs would have a material impact on its results of BRI BREENSRHELEE
operations and financial position. BRBERAERNERTE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued)

REMBHRRHE®

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #EHZE_-Z

5.

98

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRSs, and the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by investment properties and certain investments, which
are carried at their fair values, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below. These consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“"RMB")
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRSs requires the use of key assumptions
and estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgments in the process of applying the accounting
policies. The areas involving critical judgments and areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 6
to the consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &Z_FT—\F+_A=1+—HBILFE

5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s
returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by
other parties, to determine whether it has control. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has
the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii)
the Company'’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary
plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and
any related accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.
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5.

100

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the
Company. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year between the
non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’'s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners
of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &Z_FT—\F+_A=1+—HBILFE

5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination. The
cost of acquisition is measured at the acquisition-date fair
value of the assets given, equity instruments issued,
liabilities incurred and contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in
the periods in which the costs are incurred and the services
are received. ldentifiable assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company's
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase which is attributed to the Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest in the subsidiary is
remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated profit
or loss. The fair value is added to the cost of acquisition to
calculate the goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest in the subsidiary were recognised in other
comprehensive income (for example, equity investments at
fair value through other comprehensive income), the
amount that was recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised on the same basis as would be
required if the previously held equity interest were
disposed of.
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5.

102

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combination and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that it might be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. The method of
measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same as
that of other assets as stated in the accounting policy
below. Impairment losses of goodwill are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s
identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity
but is not control or joint control over those policies. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible, including potential
voting rights held by other entities, are considered when
assessing whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes to
significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial
ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued)
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Associates (Continued)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are measured at
their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the
cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the
carrying amount of the investment and is tested for
impairment together with the investment at the end of
each reporting period when there is objective evidence
that the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and
its share of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is
recognised in the consolidated reserves. The cumulative
post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of
those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.
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5.

104

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Associates (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results
in a loss of significant influence represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale
plus the fair value of any investment retained in that
associate and (i) the Group's share of the net assets of that
associate plus any remaining goodwill relating to that
associate and any related accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve. If an investment in an associate
becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group
continues to apply the equity method and does not
remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or
more parties have joint control. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control. Relevant activities are activities that
significantly affect the returns of the arrangement. When
assessing joint control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by
other parties, to determine whether it has joint control. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has
the practical ability to exercise that right.
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Joint arrangements (Continued)

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint
venture. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a joint
arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of
the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement.

In relation to its interest in a joint operation, the Group
recognises in its consolidated financial statements, its
assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; its
liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred
jointly; its revenue from the sale of its share of the output
arising from the joint operation; its share of the revenue
from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and its
expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly, in accordance with the IFRSs applicable to the
particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the joint venture in an acquisition are
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of
the net fair value of the joint venture’s identifiable assets
and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is
included in the carrying amount of the investment and is
tested for impairment together with the investment at the
end of each reporting period when there is objective
evidence that the investment is impaired. Any excess of
the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.
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5.

106

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Joint arrangements (Continued)

The Group's share of a joint venture's post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss, and its share of the post-acquisition movements in
reserves is recognised in the consolidated reserves. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds
its interest in the joint venture, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes
recognising its share of those profits only after its share of
the profits equals the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a joint venture that
results in a loss of joint control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale
plus the fair value of any investment retained in that joint
venture and (i) the Group's share of the net assets of that
joint venture plus any remaining goodwill relating to that
joint venture and any related accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve. If an investment in a joint venture
becomes an investment in an associate, the Group
continues to apply the equity method and does not
remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interests in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of joint ventures have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rates at the end of
each reporting period. Gains and losses resulting
from this translation policy are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values
in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

108

(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company's presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in the foreign currency translation
reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign
entities and of borrowings are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of
the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly offices. Property, plant and
equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during
the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their revalued
amounts less their residual values over the estimated
useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual
rates are as follows:

2.38%
9.50%-31.67%
19.00%—-23.75%
19.00%-31.67%

Buildings

Plant and Machinery
Office equipment
Motor vehicles

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and machinery pending installation,
and is stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation
begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.
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5.

110

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at
least at each financial year end.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. An investment
property is measured initially at its cost including all direct
costs attributable to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated
at its fair value based on valuation by an external
independent valuer. Gains or losses arising from changes
in fair value of the investment property are recognised in
profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied or a
property held for sale, it is reclassified as property, plant
and equipment or properties held for sale as appropriate,
and its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its
cost for accounting purposes.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has changed, any
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value
of this item at the date of transfer is recognised as a
revaluation of property, plant and equipment.
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

If a property held for sale becomes an investment property,
any difference resulting between the carrying amount and
the fair value of this item at the date of transfer is
recognised in profit or loss.

Property that is being constructed or developed for future
use as investment property is stated at cost less
impairment losses until construction or development is
complete, at which time it is stated at fair value. The
difference between the fair value and the previous carrying
amount is recognised in profit or loss.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the property, and is recognised in
profit or loss.

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases that do not substantially transfer all the risks and
rewards of ownership of assets to the Group are accounted
for as operating leases. Lease payments (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted
for as operating leases. Rental income from operating
leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease.

5. EXSFBER®E)

BREW=(E)

Wfr EVMEXBIEME - QLA
BREERZERmEREQFEZE
EE 2 TIZENEaER -

RIrEpsHEHARBERED
R ZYERKABORERES K
BEEEKEZRER ERERA
FEFIAR o AT {EHE 5L AT R AR
ZEFNERATER o

HEREME 2 WELBERIIEE
PIERRFREZYELRAER
B2 ER  WNBRER

HE
REBEREBA

BEMBEMBARED AR NE R
VEEBEREE 2HEARIG
REME - HEFRGFIREHEA
YER 2 (Z (AT 228 ) I FH R DA B AROK T
RBFA ©

AEBEREBEA

BEMAENERE SRR & @R
WEERETAEAZHEARISG
KEHE R2BENHEHSBAR
HEAHEHANNEREER

AMBEBRIER AR AR / 2018 FF R 1K




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued)

REMBERRWE®

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #EHZE_-Z

5.

112

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Properties for sale under development

Properties for sale under development are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs include
acquisition costs, prepaid land lease payments,
construction costs, borrowing costs capitalised and other
direct costs attributable to such properties. Net realisable
value is determined by reference to sale proceeds received
after the reporting period less selling expenses, or by
estimates based on prevailing market condition. On
completion, the properties are reclassified to properties
held for sale at the then carrying amount.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Costs of properties include acquisition
costs, prepaid land lease payments, construction costs,
borrowing costs capitalised and other direct costs
attributable to such properties. Net realisable value is
determined by reference to sale proceeds received after
the reporting period less selling expenses, or by estimates
based on prevailing market condition.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average basis. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of all production overhead
expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting
charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZE_—Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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EMBERERMET

—NFt-A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on
a trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an
asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery
of the asset within the timeframe established by the
market concerned, and are initially recognised at fair
value, plus directly attributable transaction costs
except in the case of investments at fair value through
profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of investments at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

— Financial assets at amortised; and

— Investments at fair value through profit or loss.

()  Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other
receivables) are classified under this category if
they satisfy both of the following conditions:

—  the assets are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method less loss
allowance for expected credit losses.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 5. EXEEE®E)

(Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)
(i) Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category
if they do not meet the conditions to be
measured at amortised cost and the conditions
of debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income unless the Group
designates an equity investment that is not held
for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently measured at fair value with any
gains or losses arising from changes in fair values
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss are net of
any interest income and dividend income.
Interest income and dividend income are
recognised in profit or loss.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected
credit losses are the weighted average of credit losses with
the respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of that
financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”) for
trade receivables, or if the credit risk on that financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.
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5.

116

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses
(Continued)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade receivables and
contract assets) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion
of lifetime expected credit losses that represents the
expected credit losses that result from default events on
that financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group's cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets or disposal group are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only
when the sale is highly probable and the assets or disposal
group are available for immediate sale in their present
condition. The Group must be committed to the sale,
which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.

Non-current assets or disposal group classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of the assets’ or disposal
group's previous carrying amount and fair value less costs
to sell.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument under IFRSs. An
equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific
financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.
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5.

118

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Convertible notes

Convertible notes which entitle the holder to convert the
notes into equity instruments, other than into a fixed
number of equity instrument at a conversion price, are
regarded as combined instruments consist of a liability and
derivative components. At the date of issue, the fair values
of the derivative component are determined using the
option price model. The remainder of the proceeds is
allocated to the liability component and is carried as a
liability at amortised cost using the effective interest
method until extinguished on conversion or redemption.
The derivative components are measured at fair value with
gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability
and derivative components of the convertible loans based
on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and derivative
components on initial recognition.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial guarantee contract liabilities

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are initially
recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at the
higher of:

(@) theloss allowance; and

(b) the amount initially recognised less cumulative
amortisation recognised in profit or loss over the
terms of the guarantee contracts.

Senior notes and corporate bonds

Senior notes and corporate bonds issued by the Company
that contain both liability and early redemption option
(which is not closely related to the host contract) are
classified separately into respective items on initial
recognition. At the date of issue, both the liability and
early redemption option components are recognised at
fair value.

In subsequent periods, the liability components of the
senior notes and corporate bonds are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. The early
redemption option is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the senior
notes and corporate bonds are allocated to the liability
and early redemption option components in proportion to
their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to the
early redemption option are charged to profit or loss
immediately. Transaction costs relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying amount of the
liability portion and amortised over the periods of the
senior notes and corporate bonds using the effective
interest method.
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5.

120

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised and subsequently
measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising from
changes in fair values recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer with reference to the
customary business practices and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised product or service exceeds one
year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over
time if:

(@) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance;

(b) the Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue
is recognised by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the product or service.

Other revenue
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest

method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the at
the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged in profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs and involves the
payment of termination benefits.
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain directors and employees.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of the
equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect
of non market-based vesting conditions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining
a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be
received.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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5.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to
be recovered through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model of the Group whose business objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred
tax for such investment properties are measured based on
the expected manner as to how the properties will be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities
on a net basis.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT")

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds
from sales of properties less deductible expenditures
including land costs, borrowing costs, business taxes and
all property development expenditures. LAT is recognised
as an income tax expense. LAT paid is a deductible
expense for PRC enterprise income tax purposes.
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purpose of allocating resources and assessing the
performance of the Group's various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of productions processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

U]

(vii)
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The entity and the Company are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 5. EXEEE®E)

(Continued)

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and other intangible
assets except goodwill, deferred tax assets, investment
properties, investment, inventories and receivables, to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of any impairment loss.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease.
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5.

130

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-
generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group's position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the financial statements. Events after the
reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when
material.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
Directors have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

(@) Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of
which depends upon the restructuring of the Group
will be successfully completed, and that, following the
restructuring, the Group will continue to meet in full
its financial obligation as they fall due in the
foreseeable future. Details are explained in note 3 to
consolidated financial statements.
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6.

132

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Distinction between investment properties and

6. BARFIEHEEEME ()

FE e st R AVBA R ) i (48)

(b) REMEHEREZEFTEHRAUENE

owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies
as an investment property. In making its judgement,
the Group considers whether the property generates
cash flows largely independently of the other assets
held by the Group. Owner-occupied properties
generate cash flows that are attributable not only to
property but also to other assets used in the
production or supply process.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to
earn rentals and another portion that is held for use in
the production of goods or service or for
administrative expenses. If these portions can be sold
separately (or leased out separately under a finance
lease), the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions cannot be sold separately,
the property is accounted for as investment property
only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the
production of goods. Judgement is applied in
determining whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an
investment property. The Group considers each
property separately in making its judgement.
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6.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key

sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the

reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a

material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed

below.

(a)

(b)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for
the Group’s property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the
actual useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
The Group will revise the depreciation charge where
useful lives and residual values are different to those
previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is determined with reference to
the fair value less costs of disposal and present value
of estimated future cash flows. Where the fair value
less costs of disposal and future cash flows are less
than expected or there are unfavourable events and
change in facts and circumstance which result in
revision of fair value less costs of disposal and future
estimate cash flows, a material impairment loss may
arise.
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6.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made.

Net realisable value of inventories and properties
for sale under development and for sale

Net realisable value of inventories and properties for
sale under development and for sale is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and selling expense.
These estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical experience of
manufacturing and selling products of similar nature.
It could change significantly as a result of changes in
customer taste and competitor actions in response to
severe industry cycles. The Group will reassess the
estimates by the end of each reporting period.

Fair values of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional
valuer to assess the fair values of the investment
properties. In determining the fair values, the valuer
has utilised a method of valuation which involves
certain estimates. The directors have exercised their
judgement and are satisfied that the method of
valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions.
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6.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(f)

(9)

PRC land appreciation tax ("LAT")

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision
for LAT is based on management’s best estimates
according to the understanding of the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations.
The actual LAT liabilities are subject to the
determination by the tax authorities upon the
completion of the property development projects.
The Group has not finalised its LAT calculation and
payments with the tax authorities for all its property
development projects. The final outcome could be
different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, and any differences will impact on the LAT
expenses and the related provision in the period in
which the differences realise.

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and
doubtful debts based on assessments of the
recoverability of the trade and other receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise
where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be collectible. The
identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual
result is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of the trade
and other receivables and doubtful debt expenses in
the year in which such estimate has been changed.
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6.

136

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(h)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial

risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and

interest rate risk. The Group's overall risk management

programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial

markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on

the Group's financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the
functional currencies of the Group entities of
Renminbi ("RMB”). The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities.
The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at
the end of the reporting periods to a reasonably
possible change in the Hong Kong dollar (“HKD")
and the USD exchange rate, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group's loss/profit before tax.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZE_—Z

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

—NFt-A=1+—HILFE

B ¥ Ebr EE ()
(a) SRR (&)

Increase/
(decrease) in
loss/profit
Rate before tax
BiATEE
R,
2 4 - (R4
% RMB'000
ARBTT
Year ended 31 December 2018 HE_ZT—)\F
TZA=T—RIEFE
If HKD weakens against RMB AT AR A -5% 28
If HKD strengthens against RMB /8 T AR B FHE +5% (28)
If USD weakens against RMB HWETHARKEE -5% 125,283
If USD strengthens against RMB METHE AREHE +5% (125,283)
Year ended 31 December 2017 HE_Z—+F
T A=+—RHIFE
If HKD weakens against RMB WETEARKERE -5% 73
If HKD strengthens against RMB i/ Bt X A REFHE +5% (73)
If USD weakens against RMB WETEARKERE -5% 134,967
If USD strengthens against RMB it X A REFHE +5% (134,967)
Credit risk (b) FEER
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the HMRXBHEFRER-_F—N\F
event that counterparties fail to perform their s = EE ?)ﬁ:}”ﬁf'a
obligations at 31 December 2018 in relation to each EFRERRAeREECEE

class of recognised financial assets is the carrying
amounts of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group’s credit
risk is primarily attributable to its financing activities
to customers. The credit risk of the Group’s other
financial assets, which mainly comprise cash and
pledged deposits, other receivables, arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure
equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

AEEHEZZAXEERR A
%ié,ﬁﬂ%ﬂi(/ﬂi%ﬁﬁﬁlﬁiﬁﬁﬁ
ZEEE  AEEZEERR
TERBEHEFOBERE
HoAEEHMEMEETR
a%fﬁé&ﬁﬁﬁ#ﬁﬁ/ﬁ B A
FEUWRIR - BREERRRA
RXHHFELD E—K}—Lﬁﬁﬂﬁ%
RzETANEKRE -
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7.

138

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has no
concentrations of credit risk in view of its large
number of customers.

The Group considers whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of financial assets on
an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period
by comparing the risk of a default occurring as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following information is used:

— internal credit rating;

— actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant change
to the borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;
and

— significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the borrower, including
changes in the payment status of borrowers.

The Group uses two categories for non-trade loan
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how the
loan loss provision is determined for each of the
categories. In calculating the expected credit loss
rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for
each category and adjusts for forward looking data.

7.
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Category Definition Loss provision

Ehl) E& BiRRE

Performing Low risk of default and strong capacity to pay 12 month expected losses
B17 ENRRIE XK R 1218 A B HA 18

Non-performing

ARETT

Significant increase in credit risk
(EEE Rl
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 7. BHREREEE)

(c) Liquidity risk (c) REBESRE
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and RNEFENKE AT EERIER
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it LIEBERM e E S ESK g
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its FHEE T ENHSHEAE
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. RN RENREHESENK -
The maturity analysis of the Group's financial liabilities AEESRAEENI BTN
is as follows: T
Carrying Total contractual
amounts undiscounted cash flow
REE EHNRBERALRERE
Less than
Total 1year Over 1 year
st -£R —FHE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTE ARETT ARBT:E

31 December 2018 —“E-)\E+-A=1+—-H
Trade and bills payables BIRNFERENEE 2,837,865 2,837,865 2,837,865 -
Accruals and other payables Bt ERRAMENTE 1,959,271 1,959,271 1,959,271 -
Borrowings EE 3,697,460 3,964,860 2,572,544 1,392,316
Convertible notes EEESH 423,141 423,141 423,141 -
Senior notes BrEE 2,082,930 2,082,930 2,082,930 -
Corporate bonds AREHR 3,188,648 3,356,609 2,048,692 1,307,917
14,189,315 14,624,676 11,924,443 2,700,233
31 December 2017 —E—tHF+-A=1—H
Trade and bills payables B HRNIERENZE 2,714,582 2,714,582 2,714,582 -
Accruals and other payables  FEETE A R EA B TR 801,670 801,670 801,670 =
Borrowings e 5,604,719 6,133,643 3,396,799 2,736,844
Convertible notes AHRRE 596,021 614,189 614,189 -
Senior notes BLREE 2,041,538 2,117,626 2,117 626 =
Corporate bonds RAlEH 2,969,776 3,342,930 2,269,930 1,073,000

14,728,306 15,724,640 11,914,796 3,809,844
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7.

140

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to risk for changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group'’s bank
and other borrowings and corporate bonds. The
Group does not use derivative financial instruments
to hedge interest rate risk. The Group manages its
interest cost using variable rate bank borrowings.

On 31 December 2018,
borrowings had increased/decreased by 0.5% and all

if the interest rate of bank

other variables held constant, the (loss)/profit before
tax for the year of the Group would have increased/
decreased by approximately RMB4,840,000 (2017:
RMB8,589,000).

Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(f) Financial instruments by category

The carrying amounts of each of the category of the

7.

Bt 765 B B R (/)
f) RERBSNELEMIA

AEERESRMTANREH

Group’s financial instruments at the end of the ROBEmMEWT -
reporting period are as follows:
2018 2017
—BE-NFE —ZT—+F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFTT
Financial assets SREE
Investments at fair value through A FEFABRZZIKE
profit or loss 1,438,697 1,560,284
Financial assets at amortised cost 1R HEK AT EN SR EE
(including cash and cash (BiEREeRESSEY)
equivalents) 2,137,165 3,668,911
Financial liabilities cREE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost IZE SEAK AT EMN S B E 14,189,315 14,728,306
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 8. AYEFE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The following disclosures of fair value measurements use a
fair value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access
at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

RFEAMB2EENGAEARE
BEFRXZPHEEEMBIREE R
BEMXNAER - A TR FER
EFRBERARATESFL  BHARE
ERAFENGHEXMOEAZRED
R=EFR

F-RBARE : AEERFER
HREREREEXRBERAED
BEVRIE CRETHE) o
F_RBARE  E—LAEHRE
MONATERKBEBRERNEESLR
BEVEABUE -

%E@E@Agﬁfﬂ : ﬁEEXETEE’UT\
A # 5i ABUE -
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8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy:

8. QFEFE®H

AEBNBREAHZERERENSE
HeEnEs B BRAEANE
HBER=EZFH -

(@) PP EFRANERIKRE
2018
—E-N\F
Fair value measurements using:

ERANTRENAPENE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

B BoR =R At

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR AR®TR ARBTRT AR®TR

Recurring fair value REMDAFEFE:

measurements:
Investment properties R EYE

Investments at fair value 2 A F{EZT AEBZ

through profitorloss. 2% #&

- - 7,501,600 7,501,600

- 1,438,697 - 1,438,697

2017
—T—+tF
Fair value measurements using:

EAUT A EHAFEE -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—M F_ F=M et

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTIT ARBTT ARBTIT ARBTT

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&) (&F:H) (KE?)

Recurring fair value REMAFEFE:

measurements:
Investment properties EYE

Investments at fair value 2 A F(EzT AEZE

through profitorloss.  Z#&#&

- — 9474999 9,474,999

12,300 1,547,984 - 1,560,284
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8.

B R #R AR Y A o)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE_=Z

—NFt-A=1+—HILFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 8. AFEFEW®
(b) Reconciliation of investment property (b) EMNE=RZAFETEDN
measured at fair value based on level 3 is REVEHRIANMEE19
included in Note 19
2018 2017
—F-NF —T+F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT
Include gains or losses for assets st ARREEARATIZEEHN
held at end of reporting period W S sk g E (877,235) 262,254

(c)

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss
are presented in change in fair value of investment
properties in the statement of profit or loss.

Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements at 31
December 2018 and 2017:

The Group's Chief Financial Officer is responsible for
the fair value measurements of assets and liabilities
required for financial reporting purposes, including
level 3 fair value measurements. The Chief Financial
Officer reports directly to the Board of Directors for
these fair value measurements. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held between the
Chief Financial Officer and the Board of Directors at
least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will
normally engage external valuation experts with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent
experience to perform the valuations.

REBZERM AR KBER
BERAUNKRENELTFEE
L BRI

RZE-NERZZT—tF
+TZA=+—BFXKEEFRE
AREERRRAFETE
IR ERTRE AR
BiEE

AEBENTBRER BRI
BEREATONEERAGN
NVERE BRERE=ZRARF
Bt E - MBBENZFAF
B EERRNESSER - W
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8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 8. AVEFTE )

(0 R=ZZBE-NFE+ZA=+-—
BAKEREANGERRE
RAFEFERRANMGE
Bt R A BB E - (8)

E_RAVETE

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements at 31
December 2018: (Continued)

Level 2 fair value measurements

144

Fair value
Description Valuation technique Inputs 2018
APME
it fhE WABE —E-N\F
RMB’000
AR¥TR
Investments at fair value Market comparable Dealer quotes for
through profit or loss. approach similar instruments 1,438,697
BAFEFABRZERE MG BOA BUTENRZERE
Fair value
Description Valuation technique Inputs 2017
AT
Fa it R {E AT A BR ZE—+F
RMB'000
ARETT
Investments at fair value Market comparable Dealer quotes for
through profit or loss. approach similar instruments 1,547,984
BRAFEFABRZERE MG BOA BUTENRZERE

WUZHOU INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued)

mEMBERERMET @

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &Z_FT—\F+_A=1+—HBILFE

8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements at 31

December 2018: (Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements

8. QFEFE®H

(c) R=B—NEFE+=-A=+—
BASEEMEANGHEBE
RAFEFERFEANGE
itk ASEBIHRE - (8)

B=ROFEE

Effect on
fair value
Valuation for increase Fair value
Description technique Unobservable inputs Range of inputs 2018
B A BB 0
HAYE AFE
it fRER FABRRAME g5E W¥ —E-N\F
RMB'000
ARETR
Investment Income Estimated rental value 22t0 158 Increase
properties capitalisation (RMB per sg.m. and
method per month) 7,501,600
Discount rate 3.5%-6.5% Decrease
REWE WABERN X EEEiEEACLE 2%Z158 0
(BABFHIRARY)
LpiR S 3.5%-6.5% A
Effect on
fair value
Valuation for increase Fair value
Description technique Unobservable inputs Range of inputs 2017
85 \ BLRIE
HATE AT
it f (B Bt TRIERER A ZUR g5E MyE —T—tF
RMB'000
ARETT
Investment Income Estimated rental value 22t0 281 Increase
properties capitalisation (RMB per sg.m. and
method per month) 9,474,999
Discount rate 4% Decrease
REME WABREE mEr e BE 227281 0
(BAGTAIRARE)
BRI & 4% B>
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9.

146

REVENUE

Revenue, represents income from the sale of properties,
commercial management service income, property
management service income, property consulting service
income and rental income during the year, after deduction
of allowances for returns and discounts.

9.

A

WAEFADERHERS  BXE
AR et - W EE R M A

WEFBARGKELRESKE(EH

BARE TR EYST)

2018 2017

—E-N\F —ET—+F

RMB'000 RMB‘000

AR®T R ARET T

Sale of properties V¥ HE 2,778,294 3,172,047
Commercial management service T E R W

income 90,866 147,670

Property consulting service income YRR TSI = 34,401 57,951

Property management service income ¥ 3 &1 IR #5025 40,045 24,311

Others Hith 39,817 37,931

Revenue from contracts with ZEEA 4k

customers 2,983,423 3,439,910

Rental income ez 117,503 105,761

3,100,926 3,545,671
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9. REVENUE (Continued) 9. WA®)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: EEASNNESZ HEE

Property
management
Property and

2018 “E-N\F development  investment Others Total
NEER

NRBR RRE Hits st

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TR AREMTR AR®TR

Major products/service TEER/RH
Properties MmE 2,778,294 - - 2,778,294
Commercial management service 5 & 12 7% - 90,866 - 90,866
Property consulting service MEEARS - 34,401 - 34,401
Property management service NEEBRRY - 40,045 - 40,045
Department store operationand B EEEE &
providing consulting services R ARE - = 39,817 39,817
2,778,294 165,312 39,817 2,983,423
Timing of revenue recognition W AT K
At a point in time RER 3 2,778,294 - - 2,778,294
Over time BERS [ - 165,312 39,817 205,129
2,778,294 165,312 39,817 2,983,423
All revenue generated by the Group were derived from the REEBZABERAERETE -
PRC.
TMNB AR AR / 2018 FER 147
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9.

148

REVENUE (Continued) 9. WA
Property
management
Property and
2017 5 development  investment Others Total
MERER
NELRE A Hit st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT AR®TT ARBTR
Major products/service TEER/RE
Sale of properties MEHE 3,172,047 - - 3,172,047
Commercial management BEEERBNE
service income - 147,670 - 147,670
Property consulting service mEH ARG W
income - 57,951 - 57,951
Property management service MEEE RSN
income - 24,311 - 24,311
Department store operationand B &/E&%
providing consulting services R ARAE - - 37,931 37,931
3,172,047 229,932 37,931 3,439,910
Timing of revenue recognition Wi 2K
At a point in time iR 3,172,047 - - 3,172,047
Over time R R ] - 229,932 37,931 267,863
3,172,047 229,932 37,931 3,439,910

ARG

All revenue generated by the Group were derived from the
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &Z_FT—\F+_A=1+—HBILFE

9. REVENUE (Continued) 9. WA®)
Sales of properties MEHEE
The Group develops and sells properties to the customers. AEBERLKAEFHEEDE -6
Sales of a contract are recognised when control of the APEERENIZSIECER (A%
property has transferred, being when the customer obtains FRSEEERMECELEERESN
the physical possession or the legal title of the completed ETEFT A M AS B %A WEH K
property and the Group has present right to payment and 18,7 IR B R IR A P] gE R E)
the collection of the consideration is probable. RFRERR ©
Provision management and consulting service RUEERZBHARE
The Group provides management and consulting service AEBARFIREEE NZEHRS -
to the customers. Management and consulting fee income EENFABRGENIREHEHER ME
is recognised when the management and consulting ARGRARTETEEFERP
service is rendered and there is no unfulfilled obligation EXREHREITE LFER -

that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the service.

10. OTHER INCOME 10. HAtlss
2018 2017
—E-NFE —T—tF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT AR®BTT
Subsidy income il 27,614 1,676
Interest income F B 5,233 20,118
Foreign exchange differences ME =R - 124,824
Gain on disposal of items of property, HE¥Z - BE KREEE
plant and equipment ZIA 1,362 778
Gain on disposal of investments HERATFEFABRZRE
at fair value through profit or loss Z A - 29,827
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBRR WA - 44,827
Change in fair value of derivative PTEERMIT AR FEES
financial instruments - 2828
Change in fair value of investments X AF(ETABZRZ
at fair value through profit or loss "ERNFEE - 5,099
Others HA 7,663 5,030
41,872 255,907
TMNB AR AR / 2018 FER 149
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #EHZE_-Z

11.

150

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has three reportable segments as follows:

(@) the property development segment engages in the
development and sale of properties;

(b) the property management and investment segment
engages in providing commercial management
services, property management services, property
consulting services and investing in properties for
their rental income potential and/or for capital
appreciation; and

(c) the "others” segment engages in department store
operation and providing consulting services.

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires
different technology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements. Segment profits or losses do not
include finance costs, dividend income and share of results
of associates and joint venture. Segment assets do not
include investments at fair value through profit or loss and
interests in associates and a joint venture as these assets
are managed on a group basis.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers
as if the sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at
current market prices.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued)

REMBHRRHE®

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z—_F—N\F+-A=+—HIFE

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 11. 7 EER (&)
Information about reportable segments’ profit or loss, TME2HoLLriezs - EELNEBESR
assets and liabilities: o
Property
management
Property and
development  investment Others Total
MEER
MERR k&RE Hit Azt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTT ARETT ARET:x
Year ended 31 December 2018 BEZ-Z2-N\E+Zh
=+—-HLFE
Revenue from external customers REIMBRERZHA 2,778,294 282,815 39,817 3,100,926
Segment loss D EE (1,733,643)  (1,066,132) (49,840)  (2,849,615)
Income tax expense TS FAX (213,807) (1,676) (92,119) (307,602)
Other material non-cash items: HiEANIFREIER -
Impairment of assets BERE (1,190,180) (133,448) (466,323)  (1,789,951)
Additions to segment non-current NEDBIERBEE
assets 793 10 10 813
Depreciation and amortization e R B 8,229 847 468 9,544
Change in fair value of investment REMERNTES
properties - (877,235) - (877,235)
At 31 December 2018 R=-B-N\F
+ZB=+—H
Segment assets DEEE 9,173,624 7,818,156 268,883 17,260,663
Segment liabilities NHAaE 18,058,477 1,285,420 325,047 19,668,944
Year ended 31 December 2017 BZ-Z—t%+=h
=t+-BLEEFE
Revenue from external customers REMPER 2 WA 3,327,553 187,774 30,344 3,545,671
Segment profit RN 463,005 75,614 15,865 554,484
Income tax expense FrETAX (184,890) (2,320) (109,141) (296,351)
Other material non-cash items: HEAFREER :
Impairment of assets BERE (25,595) = (168) (25,763)
Additions to segment non-current  AE D EFIERENEE
assets 43,974 27,040 1,187 72,201
Depreciation and amortization W& iy 39,058 1,902 419 41,379
Change in fair value of investment X &Y E A TEE
properties = 262,254 = 262,254
At 31 December 2017 R-E—tF
TSH=18H
Segment assets DEEE 13,334,953 9,559,980 231,609 23,126,542
Segment liabilities paR=i§=(1 18,965,417 1,886,712 207,331 21,059,460
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&Z—_F—N\F+-A=+—HIFE

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 1. 7HER (&)

A2 MWA - Bz BENE

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or

loss, assets and liabilities: &2 E0E -
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARET T
(Restated)
(&E5)
Revenue A
Total revenue of reportable segments ] 259 &6 7 42U A 3,100,926 3,545,671
Profit or loss 2235
Total (loss)/profit of reportable G
segments (&518),FIE (2,849,615) 554,484
Finance costs & A A (1,019,692) (813,518)
Share of results of associates JE(GEEE N A ¥4E (62,619) (6,234)
Share of results of a joint venture JEIE—FRE BN T EHE = (12,874)
Loss before tax M+ EL R E R (3,931,926) (278,142)
2018 2017
—E-N\FE —T—tF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFTT
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments A E2HRPIPr B8 EE 17,260,663 23,126,542
Corporate and unallocated assets TERRDREE 1,844,894 1,718,815
Consolidated total assets IR BEE 19,105,557 24,845,357
Liabilities BfE
Total liabilities of reportable segments  F] 2D &2 428 & 19,668,944 21,059,460
Consolidated total liabilities e =R 19,668,944 21,059,460
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &Z_FT—\F+_A=1+—HBILFE

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 11. o ER (&)

i EE R

HRAKERBINEES 2 WAE
KEERFBERENZLZMREFAR
SEYEIERBEELN P B AR
BHN - A EE MR E R

Geographical information

No geographical information is presented as the Group's
revenue from the external customers is derived solely from
its operation in Mainland China and no non-current assets
of the Group are located outside Mainland China.

No information about major customers is presented as no AR EmE -—EP Z7EELHAE
EREz_T-NEFR_FT—LtF
TZA=T-—HRLEFERAZR

sales to a single customer contributed to over 10% of the
Group's revenue for the years ended 31 December 2018

and 2017. 10% @ MAEEHNEREFPER -
12. FINANCE COSTS 12. @E A

2018 2017
—F-NF —T+F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Interest expenses on borrowings EEN RS 595,277 297,472
Interest expenses on senior notes BEEERNBRAX 212,973 297,375
Interest expenses on convertible notes A IFZEIE TS 5 & 55,294 91,347
Interest expenses on corporate bonds ‘A A& HF B F X 218,872 222,458
1,082,416 908,652
Less: Amount capitalised B BEENMEERE (62,724) (95,134)
1,019,692 813,518
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&Z_FT—\F+_A=1+—HBILFE

13. INCOME TAX 13. Fife®
2018 2017
—E2-NFE —ZT—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARETR
(Restated)
(F&&:751)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B EEATIS
Provision for current year REZEBE 131,294 85,821
PRC LAT AR £ (B FR 117,596 158,358
248,890 244179
Deferred tax (Note 38) AEFERIA (P EE 38) 58,712 52,172
307,602 296,351
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for HRASREREBEZE-_T—\F+=
the year ended 31 December 2018 as the Group did not A=+—BLFEEBTETEES
generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong T ERRAE (- —+F &)
during that year (2017: Nil). S ERNZ FER BB MNEN G
R -
Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been Hibih AR ERBRFBEHIERZE
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in BEAEEEEMERIRNIREGE
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation, o BREREMIEZERRWNIRTT
interpretation and practices in respect thereof. WMEHE -
Subsidiaries of the Group operating in Mainland China are AEBERP B RPELEXEBN B
subject to PRC corporate income tax at a rate of 25%. N A 7R 1R 25% B Bt R S o B 4
EJTRE YA
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &Z_FT—\F+_A=1+—HBILFE

13. INCOME TAX (Continued)

According to the requirements of the Provisional
Regulations of the PRC on LAT effective from 1 January
1994, and the Detailed Implementation Rules on the
Provisional Regulations of the PRC on LAT effective from
27 January 1995, all income from the sale or transfer of
state-owned leasehold interest on land, buildings and their
attached facilities in Mainland China is subject to LAT at
progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% of the
appreciation value except for those permitted otherwise
under the respective laws and regulations, with an
exemption provided for property sales of ordinary
residential properties if their appreciation values do not
exceed 20% of the sum of the total deductible items.

The Group has estimated and made tax provision for LAT
according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC
tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are
subject to the determination by the tax authorities upon
completion of the property development projects and the
tax authorities might disagree with the basis on which the
provision for LAT is calculated.

13. FR8% (&)

BE-—NANTUNE—A—BEERN
rhEE AR A AE L 8 E R 1T
BIR—NWNAF—A=Z+tHEE
RH R EE A R LRI 4 b 12 B R
THRAIBERMAUMBRT  EEE
FERRAERAELMAESEST 2
EYREWMZEYE BRI A
2+ b 1 (B 30% & 60% Hy 2 3 B R
BT HIRER (BREREREE
RFERIN)  HEWISETBRAS I
AHNFIE B 4R 20% - Bl @miEE
Y2 B W) 58 T BA S AN - b 3
B -

SR BRI AE B R B BR MOA AR AT
AR b AT L I E B B UL AR
MIEREE BRI WIBEREER
MEFRBZEBRITEATHEEEE
E o MBS HE R B YAt B T
ER BN EER L EE -
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13.

156

—NFt-A=+—HILFE

INCOME TAX (Continued) 13. FRfE®(8)
The reconciliation between the income tax and the loss ST BT R E R R SRR -
before tax is as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+tF
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T ARET T
(Restated)
(e&E75)
Loss before tax [& T E e (3,931,926) (278,142)
Notional tax on profit before tax BB AT R E /AT
calculated at the PRC statutory rate FMERBRTIE (982,982) (69,536)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses  NAI G X O A 2 & 493,181 215,191
Tax effect of utilisation of previously FABEREREBER
unrecognised tax losses 2B E (2,019) (26,533)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  RIERIISEE 2 G2 695,570 64,890
Profits and losses attributable Bt N T E(FIE R
to associates 15,655 1,559
Profits and losses attributable —REERAE(EER
to a joint venture - 3,219
Provision for LAT T IR ETR B 117,596 158,358
Tax effect on LAT HIMIBERNBBTE (29,399) (39,590)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries &M E A RMEBFE RN
not subject to tax 2 W Es - (11,207)
Income tax for the year FRTER 307,602 296,351
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z—_F—N\F+-A=+—HIFE

14. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 14. FREE
The Group's profit for the year is stated after charging/ REBHFEANFBLINR (GTA)
(crediting) the following: AT B IB18ED

2018 2017

—E2-N\F —E—LF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR AR®TT

Auditor's remuneration 2 Gl 3,000 6,447

Cost of properties sold EEWEXAR 2,157,815 2,587,002

Depreciation e 8,466 39,016

Amortisation of intangible assets B A 468 1,144

Amortisation of long-term deferred REEER S #8H
expenses 610 1,219

Impairment loss on various assets BEIBEENRERBE
Impairment on goodwill EESERED 59,633 -
Impairment on prepayment, TANFIE - e REM
deposit and other receivables JEW IR (B 743,641 -
Impairment on trade receivables g 5 RERFIARE 38,925 -
Impairment loss on properties FEMEREEE
held for sale 470,818 25,763
Impairment loss on properties for BRAFEMERERR
sale under development 476,934 (1,161)
Impairment loss on investments —FKEE R AR
in an associate ﬁz/ﬂﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁ - 3,267
Foreign exchange difference MEHZERE 107,819 -
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE - W= MREIEEB
plant and equipment Z B8 1,524 60
Staff costs (including directors’ BETKA(BIEEEE N
remuneration — note 15): — BfEE15) ¢
Salaries, bonus and allowances e~ JEALNOEBL 138,060 177,749
Pension and social welfare BRRe Rt 2@ 8,964 SN
Equity-settled share-based A EE R TR
payment expenses - 171
TMNB AR AR / 2018 FER 157




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued)

mEMBERERMET @

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&Z_FT—\F+_A=1+—HBILFE

15. DIRECTORS' AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS

158

15. EER L BB ESHA LT ZHEH

The emoluments of each Director were as follows: RERHMOT
Equity-
settled
Salaries share-based  Pension
and other ~ payment and social
Fees  benefits expenses welfare Total
RAEE
ek BROAR  BARER
e HitEw Y HEEF @t
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
izt AR®Tn AR¥Tn AR¥Tn AR¥ETR AR%Tx
Executive Directors HITESE
Mr. Shu Cecheng HEWMEE 4 - 389 - 18 407
Mr. Shen Xiaowei EELE 1 155 - - 9 164
Mr. Zhu Yonggju Kok 1 232 = = 19 251
Ms. Cai Qiaoling ZMie it 1 218 - - 20 238
Mr. Zhou Chen BEEf4 3 196 = = = 196
Non-executive director EHITES
Mr. Wang Wei FELE 2 - - - - -
Independent BYFHTES
Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Song Ming REEL 273 = = = 273
Prof. Shu Guoying TR HIR 137 - - - 137
Mr. Liu Chaodong BHREE 1 1M1 - - - 111
Mr. Zhou Chen BRLaE 3 295 = = = 295
Chief Executive and THARR
executive director HITES
Mr. Shu Cewan FRALE 5 - 42 = 15 57
Total forthe yearended ~ BZE=FT—/\F+_H
31 December 2018 =t-RILFEAEH 1,617 431 - 81 2,129
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 15. EERAEEBEESFHA LT ZHH
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (&)
Equity-
settled
Salaries share-based Pension
and other ~ payment  and social
Fees benefits  expenses welfare Total
&N
ek ROHER  BASR
we  EMETH Ax HgEF st

Notes RMB000  RMB'000  RMB000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
Wit ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTLT ARETTL

Executive Director HITES
Mr. Shu Cecheng FEMEE 4 - 173 - 18 191
Non-executive director ~ FEHITES
Mr. Wang Wei TEEE 2 - - - - -
Independent BYkHTES

Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Song Ming REEL 208 - - - 208
Mr. Lo Kwong Shun, Wilson ZE{E%4E 121 - - - 121
Prof. Shu Guoying SRR AR 104 - - - 104
Mr. Zhou Chen AExE 3 8 - - - 8
Chief Executive and THABRHTES

executive director
Mr. Shu Cewan FENEE 5 - 42 - 10 52
Total forthe yearended ~ HE-ZT—+4F

31 December 2017 t=-A=t+—H

IEF R85 441 215 - 28 684
Notes: MHEE
1 Resigned on 7 August 2018 1 RZZE-—NFENALBHEHE
2 Appointed on 25 June 2018 2 RZE—NFARAZTHBEZE
3 Re-designated from an Independent Non-Executive Director to an 3 RZZ—N\FN\A LA BEBIIENTE
Executive Director on 7 August 2018 EPERNTES

4 Resigned on 19 June 2019 4 RZZE-NFRATIBEEE
5 Resigned on 23 July 2020 5 RZE_TF+A-+=HEHE
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15.

160

DIRECTORS' AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four (2017: two) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in information above. Details of the
remuneration of the remaining one (2017: three) non-
directors, highest paid employees for the year are as
follows:

15.

EERTEERREFALTZHMN

(#8)

AEERLARSFRERESENA(Z
Z—tHF WMREF EFWHFR
EREX - AFEEHTI—R(ZF
—tF: ZR)FEFHESFHEEN
BB T

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—+F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET T AREFIT

Salaries and other benefits e hEAMER 605 2,389
Performance-related bonuses e g Kl PN - 145
Pension and social welfare BRE Rt EEF - 59
605 2,593

The number of non-directors, highest paid employees
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

FMNFTIERNFERTRSH
BEAHWT :

Number of employees

EEAH
2018 2017
—E-NF —T+F
Emolument band: HINEE -
HK$Nil-HK$ 1,000,000 T ITZE 1,000,000 7T 1 2
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 /& 7L & 2,500,000 75 7T - 1
1 3

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals, including directors, as an inducement to
join the Group or as compensation for loss of office other
than those disclosed above. In addition, during the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no directors waived
any emoluments.
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16.

17.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the loss for the year of
approximately RMB4,215,744,000 (2017: RMB516,562,000)
attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted
average number of 4,990,259,914 (2017: 4,990,259,914)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

The effects of all potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive
for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December
2017.

16.

17.

Hﬁ /%\

EETEENEBEE-_T—/\F+=
A=+ —BHIEFEREEMRE (=
T—tF 8

BREE
BREXER

RAREB ANBESRELREETD
BARFEZARNRER AEGER
I ANREEA215,744,000 T (—F—+
F 0 ARME516,562,0007C) M AREE
BETETERZ MNETFHH
4,9902599148( = T — + F:
4,990,259, 91418 ) 5t 5&

BRBEEE

REBEE-_Z—N\F+-_A=+—H
rF—E—+F+-_A=1+—HIHF
ErHBAELTERY AR REER
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. % - MEKZRE

Plant and Motor Office Construction
Buildings  machinery vehicles equipment in progress Total
BT REREM AE ORARE  HERIE Foh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETRE ARETT ARETRT
(Restated)  (Restated) (Restated)
(&E7)  (KE5) (&=551)
Cost or valuation RSB
At 1 January 2017 R-E—+F—F—H 265,658 682 65,544 40,822 2,504 375,210
Additions NE 67,599 102 1,696 2,804 - 72,201
Acquisition of subsidiaries  WERIEA A 17 - 472 583 - 1,072
Transfers s 2,504 - - - (2,504) -
Revaluation EXr 252,062 - - - - 252,062
Transferred to investment BRI ENE
properties (364,229) - - - - (364,229)
Disposals HE (6,264) (1 (904) - - (7,179
Disposals of subsidiaries HEWBAT - - (409) (710) - (1,119)
At 31 December 2017 and RZE—+F+=A
1 January 2018 =t+—BR-Z-N\¥
—H—H 217,347 773 66,399 43,499 - 328,018
Additions NE - - 470 343 - 813
Disposals HE - - (1,246) (614) - (1,860)
Disposals of subsidiaries HEHBAR (29,567) = (227) (7,812) = (37,606)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E
+ZR=1—H 187,780 773 65,396 35,416 - 289,365
Accumulated depreciation B TERFE
and impairment
At 1 January 2017 R-E—+F—H—H 34,398 343 55,565 33,436 - 123,742
Charge for the year FRH% 30,256 145 3,715 4,900 L 39,016
At 31 December 2017 and RZE—+&+=R
1 January 2018 =+—BAEkZE-N\F
—B—H 64,654 488 59,280 38,336 - 162,758
Charge for the year FRNFEY 5,710 107 1,494 1,155 - 8,466
Disposals HeE - - (1,096) (602) - (1,698)
Disposals of subsidiaries HEWBAR (21,757) = (63) (5,426) = (27,246)
At 31 December 2018 R-B-NE
= 48,607 595 59,615 33,463 - 142,280
Carrying amounts BEE
At 31 December 2018 T
Ay 5 139,173 178 5,781 1,953 - 147,085
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+%
=+ =F S 152,693 285 19 5163 - 165,260

AEBERAEMEARARE
98,314,000 T(ZZE—+F : AEK
104,438,000 70) Z W3 - BB R &E
NABEMER — MBS REER -

Pledged property, plant and equipment with an
aggregate carrying amount of RMB98,314,000 (2017:
RMB104,438,000) to secure general facilities granted to the
Group.
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

19. REYHE

Under
Completed construction Total
BRI YE EEIR st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARETT ARETT
(Restated) (Restated)
(K& E5) (5 &%)
Carrying amount at R_TE—tF—H—H
1 January 2017 Z BREE 6,409,805 2,113,095 8,522,900
Additions N - 140,271 140,271
Transferred from investment O RS E Y
properties under construction 1,146,878 (1,146,878) -
Transferred from properties EHBERTYME
under development 181,349 - 181,349
Transferred from completed EEGESTYE
properties held for sale 262,782 - 262,782
Transferred from property, wEEYE - BENMERE
plant and equipment 364,229 - 364,229
Transferred to cost of HEOEYEMR
properties sold (258,786) - (258,786)
Change in fair value of KEMENFEE
investment properties 232,895 29,359 262,254
Carrying amount at R_E—tF+_H
31 December 2017 and =t—HRERZZE—NF
1 January 2018 —A—BZERHEE 8,339,152 1,135,847 9,474,999
Transferred from investment BEERREDMHE
properties under construction 75,622 (75,622) -
Transferred to properties held EZE{EFEWE
for sale (49,727) - (49,727)
Transferred to cost of HECDEYEKAR
properties sold (1,512) - (1,512)
Disposals of subsidiaries HEKHB AR (109,900)  (935,025) (1,044,925)
Change in fair value of BREMEAFEE
investment properties (878,135) 900 (877,235)
Carrying amount at R_ZF—-/\F1rH
31 December 2018 =t+— B 2Fan 7,375,000 126,100 7,501,600
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19.

20.

164

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The Group's investment properties were revalued at 31
December 2018 and 2017 on an open market value basis
by reference to valuation performed by Savills Valuation
(2017: Savills Valuation and Yinxin Assets Appraisal Co.,
Limited), an independent firm of chartered surveyors.
Valuations were based on capitalisation of net income
derived from the existing tenancies with allowance for the
reversionary income potential of the properties. The
investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases.

At 31 December 2018, certain of the Group's investment
properties with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB3,470,629,000 (2017: RMB4,371,495,000) are pledged
to secure general facilities granted to the Group.

19.

REWE ()

AEENERENER-_FT—N\FR
—E—tF+t-A=T—BERRQ
FmE 2ZBISIFNEMTSE
—RKFEEHEE(CE—EF %
— K4 A EMREEENG
BRAR)ETHHRERTER
BNEREYEBEERKSIEY
MRENRBEHROMBERANE
e - WEMEREZL2HOHEE
TE=F-

RZZE—N\F+—_A=+—H" =«
SERXHFREEAEAAREK
3,470,629,000 L ( —ZE—+F : AR
% 4,371,495,00070) K5 TR EWME
INBEFTER — BB EREER -

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 20. FE{T T A EFIE
2018 2017
—BE-NEFE —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
At 1 January R—A—H 2,283,575 1,284,096
Additions during the year FRRE - 1,153,152

Transferred to properties under FAEERRPYME

development during the year (960,907) (153,673)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR (972,347) -
At 31 December jAer ™ S-S 350,321 2,283,575

The Group’s prepaid land lease payment related to land
use rights are located in Mainland China.

At 31 December 2018 the carrying amount of prepaid land
lease payments pledged as security for the Group's
general facilities amounted to RMB266,359,000 (2017:
RMB1,570,518,000).

WUZHOU INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018

AEEELEREERNANLT
10 78 & FRIARL A B A E o

n==" NEF-H=+ &1
FEAAEE —MBE ZERNE
NI HEERENREEAARKE
66,359,000 =2 &= \BE#&
1,570,518,000 7T ) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued)

b e )

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &Z_FT—\F+_A=1+—HBILFE

21. GOODWILL 21. &

Cost

At 1 January 2017

A

R-ZE—+F—H—H

Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries 2R B U5 BT/ 2 =] 59,633
At 31 December 2017, 1 January 2018 and R—_ZE—+F+-_H=+—8 -
31 December 2018 AN S = Bl = DX
—F-)\Ft+=ZA=+—H 59,633
Accumulated impairment losses R REBE
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017 R_E—t+F—H—8 "
and 1 January 2018 “E—tF+A=+—AK
—ZE-N\F—H—H -
Impairment loss recognised in the current year FAARF E R 2 BEEE 59,633
At 31 December 2018 R-ZE—N\EFE+-_HF=+—H 59,633
Carrying amount IREIE
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\F+ZA=+—H -
At 31 December 2017 R-ZF—tF+=-A=t1+—H 59,633

EEBE B E DR KRR
DEERHAEEKAHPERN
ReELBEN(REELEM]) -

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated,
at acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUs") that
are expected to benefit from that business combination.

The carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as HENEmE DT -
follows:
2018 2017
—E-NFE ZZT—+F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AREF T AREFTT
Property development unit MR BN = 59,633
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21.

22.

166

GOODWILL (Continued) 21. BEH)
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined on BeESBMNMKESEIDIRE
the basis of their value in use using discounted cash flow FHENVIRIR S REeErtErTHEFHE
method. The key assumptions for the discounted cash flow BEMET RBAESREEZETHE
method are those regarding the discount rates, growth FEERMNTEBGRATH X - 12
rates and budgeted gross margin and revenue during the KX BEENERHBHARKA - K
period. The Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax EEFRARMREEEEERERD
rates that reflect current market assessments of the time MGFEEREEEAEMUNE TR
value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The REPRB AT L B ETAAIR K - R
growth rates are based on long-term average economic ERBERECELBULEELAHN
growth rate of the geographical area in which the TR REFHLEERERRAE o
businesses of the CGUs operate. Budgeted gross margin TEE EM KU AtR @ T 18 5 & 78 5
and revenue are based on past practices and expectations TISERMETE °
on market development.
The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from the AR AEBEEARERE 2N
Group's is 5%. EE5% °
INVESTMENTS IN A JOINT VENTURE 22. R—REELQFANRE
2018 2017
—EBE-NF —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTRT AR®BTT
Unlisted investment: FEFMIEE :
Share of net assets DIEEEFE 87,126 87,126

The contractual arrangement provides the Group with only
the joint control over AR HEFEMEREZE AR AT
(“Hunan Hongxiong"”) and the rights to the net assets of
the joint venture. Under IFRS 11 this joint arrangement is
classified as a joint venture and has been included in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method.

The following tables show information of joint ventures
that are material to the Group. These joint ventures are
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
using the equity method. The summarised financial
information presented is based on the IFRS financial
statements of the joint ventures.
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22. INVESTMENTS IN A JOINT VENTURE 22. A—REELTNRE (&)
(Continued)

Hunan Hongxiong

Name ACIEE M A
2018 2017
—E-NF —T+F
Principal place of business/ FTEEEME PRC
country of incorporation Rl avAEIES s
Principal activities Property development
FEXK MEER
% of ownership interests/voting REFEMEEHEERER
rights held by the Group KRE#EAD 51%/50% 51%/50%
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTTT
At 31 December: R+-A=+—8":
Non-current assets IEREEE 771 771
Current assets mENEE 356,554 356,554
Non-current liabilities FErRBEE (23,486) (23,486)
Current liabilities mENBE (163,003) (163,003)
Net assets BEFE (170,836) 170,836
Group's share of net assets REERNEEFE 87,126 87,126
Cash and cash equivalents BEFARBEE
included in current assets e RIBEZEEY 440 440
Hunan Hongxiong
2018 2017
—EB-NFE —ZZF—+tF
Year ended 31 December: BE I —A=gd HIEEE :
Revenue WA - =
Loss and total comprehensive EELkEEW LT
income - 25,243
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22. INVESTMENTS IN A JOINT VENTURE 22.

(Continued)

The Group's share of contingent liabilities of Hunan
Hongxiong is approximately RMB23,320,000
(2017:RMB23,320,000) in related to litigations.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, no capital
commitments were shared by the Group.

R—REERTANREE)

AEBESEHAAENIABELY
A AR 23,320,00070( =T —+4F -
AE#23,320,0007T) - EEFFAHRES ©

RZE—NER_ZT—+tF+_-A
—+—HB ' AEEBESHERE
¥’

23. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 23. REtE QN RNKRE
2018 2017
—E-NF —Z—+tF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Unlisted investments: EETRE -
Share of net assets DMEEEFE 319,071 71,405

The following table shows information of associates that
are material to the Group. These associates are accounted
for in the consolidated financial statements using the
equity method. The summarised financial information
presented is based on the IFRS financial statements of the
associates.
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23. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 23. RBERFWRE (@)
Principal % of ownership
place of business/ interests/
country of voting rights
Name incorporation Paid-in capital held by the Group  Principal activities
rEERBER
TEEERY BRERES
NRAEH MR LER BRER FRASE TEXHB
RMB'000 2018 2017
ARETT —B-N\§ —ZT—tF
Wuxi Bonan Property Co., Ltd PRC 135,000 20.00% 20.00%  Property development
EOTEREXRERAF hE NEER
Wauxi Longan Property Co., Ltd. PRC 50,000 25.00% 25.00%  Property development
EOTETHRELEZFARAR  FE NEER
Wusxi Wuzhou Xiangjiang PRC 10,000 49.00% 49.00%  Property management
Housing Co., Ltd.
EHTONBIREEBRAR R NERER
Fushun Zhonghe Market PRC 115,347 N/A 49.50%  Property development
development Co., Ltd.
WIER S TISREERAF hE TEA NEER
Dali Wuzhou International PRC 20,000 38.50% N/A  Property development
Commercial City Co., Ltd.
AREDMNBEREERERAR R TER MEER
HIMBEBRERARAR /2018 £k 169
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24. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 24. BAEEFABRZERE
PROFIT OR LOSS

2018 2017
—B-NE —ZT—+F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFTT
Unlisted equity securities IEETIRAE A 11,626 950
Trust fund investments, at fair value =ESKRE AT E 1,427,071 1,559,334
1,438,697 1,560,284

Analysed as: DA
Current assets mENE E 1,427,071 804,479
Non-current assets FERBEE 11,626 755,805
1,438,697 1,560,284
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25. PROPERTIES FOR SALE UNDER 25. BRPGFEWHE
DEVELOPMENT
2018 2017
—EBE-NFE —ZT—+F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT
At 1 January n—H—H 3,215,751 3,519,156
Additions NE 3,002,312 1,648,203
Acquisition of subsidiaries RE XU IEHT B A R
during the year - 1,378,998
Transferred from prepaid land HEFENTHEENK
lease payments 960,907 153,673
Disposal of subsidiaries HE B AT (283,431) (1,198,544)
Transferred to properties held for sale #EZ=FEYZE (3,907,650) (2,105,547)
Transferred to investment properties B &Y% = (181,349)
Impairment loss written (recognised)/ B (#&:2),/ B EIREE1E
back (476,934) 1,161
At 31 December Rt+-—B=+—H 2,510,955 3,215,751

At 31 December 2018, the Group's certain properties
under development amounted to RMB1,720,169,000 (2017:
RMB1,610,080,000) were pledged to secure general
facilities granted to the Group, and items of
RMB179,027,000 (2017: RMB55,098,000) were frozen for a
lawsuit in which a subsidiary of the Group is currently a
defendant.

RZZE—N\F+_A=+—H" =&
E B ARE1,720,169,000 7T (=
T—+F: AR¥1,610,080,0007T)
ZETEHRERYWENERAEEFA
ERA—BmENNAREEN B
AABEABBEENFRAMRE ARE
179,027,000 (ZZE—tF : ARK

55,098,0007T) KJIE R °
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25. PROPERTIES FOR SALE UNDER
DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

—NFt-A=+—HILFE

25. BRPEFEVEH)

The movements in provision for impairment are as follows: SEBEESIT -
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
At 1 January n—A—H 10,157 36,683
Impairment loss BRER(BE)REESE
recognised/(written back) 476,934 (1,161)
Transferred to properties held for sale  EEEHFEYZE = (25,365)
At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 487,091 10,157
26. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 26. FEWHE
2018 2017
—E-N\f —tF
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
At 1 January n— 3,490,315 3,532,799
Acquisition of subsidiaries E{‘ﬁlﬂqqﬂlﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
during the year - 468,730
Transferred from properties BEERTME
under development 3,907,650 2,105,547
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWBR A (584,763) =
Transferred from investment properties #E 8% &Y% 49,727 =
Transferred to investment properties P LY = (262,782)
Transferred to cost of properties sold HE D EYERRK (2,156,303) (2,328,216)
Impairment loss recognised BRI EEE (470,818) (25,763)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 4,235,808 3,490,315
At 31 December 2018, the Group's certain properties held RN T Frws= v B2

for sale amounted to RMB1,550,793,000 (2017:
RMB1,451,343,000) were pledged to secure general
facilities granted to the Group.
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26. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE (Continued)

26. FEMEH)

The movements in provision for impairment are as follows: BEBREEEHOT -
2018 2017
—EB-N\F ZZE—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTTT
At 1 January R—HA—H 124,875 79,963
Impairment loss recognised EHERIBEEE 470,818 25,763

Transferred from properties EEERPYE
under development - 25,365
Transferred to cost of properties sold % & &Y A - (6,216)
At 31 December R+_A=+—H 595,693 124,875
27. TRADE RECEIVABLES 27. B EWFIE

2018 2017
—E-NFE ZZT—LF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
(Restated)
(geE5)
Trade receivables B 5 EWGIA 127,352 169,080
Less: impairment losses B REEE (38,925) -
88,427 169,080

/8
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #EHZE_-Z

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade receivable

Trade receivables represent rentals receivable from
tenants, sales income and service income receivables from
customers which are payable on presentation of invoices
or in accordance with the terms of the related sales and
purchase agreements. The credit period is generally three
months. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group's trade
receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk.

Trade receivables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing.
The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate to
their fair values.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables, net
of allowance for doubtful debts, presented based on the
invoice date at the end of the year:

27.

—NFt-A=+—HILFE

B 5 B (4)
B 5 EWRE

BERYREREEFES %’
Bl R B E P RS et - BN
ﬁﬂﬂ%mﬁviﬁﬁifﬁﬁﬁéﬁéﬁ%uﬂm
K- EEHBER=H - &
R B 200 AR BEFE R W [0 P M 5 0R
VTHREEEEEHPIUNEREREE
R o BIEEE B s m e o
ENEXF R ANEEZE S EW
JAIEEEiXTTiﬁig)EEEQ i
BEEREPEER

BHRBFRARERMETEE
HERE(ERAFEMES

UNTARARFERIZBEZAEE
MNEZRKFE(EMNBRRERE)
RBRER D AT -

2018 2017

—E-NFE ZZT—+tF

RMB’000 RMB‘000

AR® TR ARBTT

(Restated)

(Fe&E7)

0 to 90 days 0E 90K 29,235 99,197
91 to 180 days 91 £ 180K 16,599 69,409
181 to 365 days (181 E28E5ES 957 235
1 to 2 years | Z59%E 41,636 239
88,427 169,080
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27. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 27. EZEWRE (&)

The Group applies the simplified approach under IFRS 9 to
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime
expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To
measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The expected credit losses also
incorporate forward looking information.

7N £% [ /e P B R B %5 s o 2R RIS 9 51
BT S AR E B SRR
HERTFENBERERREBAER
HEEER - RITERMEEEE
BHRBFHECRELAZEERR
FEBMBMABENIE - BHREES
BITBEREEER -

Over 181  Over 1 year
days less less than
Current  than 1 year 2 years Total
BiB181 X BB1F
Ik BOR1E BLR2%F st
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F
+=A=+-A
Weighted average IR E R R
expected loss rate 0% 0% 48%
Receivable amount ke
(RMB'000) (AR#T7T) 29,235 16,599 81,518 127,352
Loss allowance (RMB'000) B #E#EE(ARBTT) - - (38,925) (38,925)
At 31 December 2017 RZE—tF
+=-RA=+—H
Weighted average MEEHEEERER
expected loss rate 0% 0% 0%
Receivable amount FERe%E
(RMB'000) (ARETT) 168,841 - 239 169,080
Loss allowance (RMB'000) EREEEARETT) = o % y,

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to a large number of diversified customers for whom
there was no recent history of default.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired
relate to a number of independent customers that have a
good track record. Based on past experience, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that no provision for
impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality
and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

BERBH A RRER B 5 B IR
B 3T AP B SR B R AL SRV B 1T R
REEFER -

EaHERBRENE S EYKEY
NEERIFEECENAEE LT
F-REBEZER ARRIEER
BB AT % F BB RRE DI

BE RARGEEERYEXLAX
RS ) B AR D4R A P BB E -
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28.

176

—NFt-A=+—HILFE

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 28. FATFIE - IRE R EMEWR
RECEIVABLES bic|
2018 2017
—EBE-NFE —ZT—+F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT
(Restated)
(Fe&E7)
Prepayments for acquisition of ~ UXBEI& & Z FE /1B
investments - 90,592
Prepayments for acquisition of W& £ b {F FA 4 M 3 28 A 7R
land use rights and Z TARRIE
construction costs 215,471 220,990
Taxes recoverable EREY 160,182 190,683
Amount due from FEU & R FIFIA
disposal company 458,579 324,404
Deposits and other receivables  #&& & H b fE UL 518 Note 1
B EE 1 1,057,469 1,320,432
1,891,701 2,147,101
Less: Current portion B BIERER > (1,891,701) (2,056,509)
Non-current portion JEBNHAER > - 90,592
Note 1: Moz -

As at 31 December 2018, included in the balances mainly are
consideration receivables from disposal of subsidiaries. As at 31
December 2017, included in the balance are (a) amounts due from related
companies and related parties; (b) a loan advance of RMB200,000,000 to
an independent third party, which is interest-bearing at 6.72% p.a. and
repayable within twelve months, which is secured by, inter alia, 51%
equity interest of the borrower and corporate guarantees of the holding
company of the borrower; and (c) a loan advance of approximate
RMB194,114,000 to an independent third party, which is interest-bearing
at 10% p.a., repayable within twelve months and secured by assets of a
related company which is controlled by the Shu Brothers.
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29. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT, RESTRICTED

BANK BALANCES AND BANK AND CASH
BALANCES

The Group's pledged bank deposits were pledged to bank
to secure banking facilities granted to the Group
amounted to RMB26,924,000 (2017: RMB1,121,341,000).
Pledged bank deposits were pledged for issuance of bank
acceptance notes amounted to RMB89,900,000 (2017:
RMB23,376,000). Pledged bank deposits were pledged for
a lawsuit as frozen assets amounted to RMB4,415,000
(2017: RMB2,819,000). Pledged bank deposits were
pledged for mortgage loans of purchasers amounted to
RMB29,759,000 (2017: RMB178,663,000).

At the end of reporting period, the restricted bank
balances of Group represent guarantee deposits for
construction of pre-sale properties denominated in RMB
placed in designated accounts pursuant to relevant
regulations in the PRC.

At the end of reporting period, most of the bank and cash
balances of Group were denominated in RMB. Conversion
of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

29. CEBBITER - ZRHEET

FEBRURRITRES &R

AEBNDEIFRITFERD BT T
BITAERAEEMEROEITRE
B ANRME26,924,00070 ( ZZF—+4F -
ANR#1,121,341,0007T) » B HEIBR
TEREERBITRITALERZ
TH - TS ER AR 89,900,000
T(ZZE—+F : AR¥23,376,000
7o) o BEMIIRITEREEFRIER
RIEBERR BERSHEAARE
4415000 (ZF —tF: AR¥
2,819,0007T) - EEFIRITFREME
BEFIRBERZER  KBSH
BANREE29,759,00070( ZF—+4F :
AR #E178,663,0007T) °

RBERKR AEEZZRHIRT
BRERETEMEBAARERE
EVMEREERFPHFEEZIUARE
AHEMRES -

RIBERR - AEBEKRIMLORITR
Re@RIUARESE - AR
S RINEREREChE AR LME
SNEE IR IEPI) o
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30. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 30. EZ BRI REREMNERE

2018 2017

—F-NF —T+F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

(Restated)

(&E7)

Trade payables B 5 ENFIA 2,743,465 2,602,993
Bills payable JEREIE 94,400 111,589
2,837,865 2,714,582

The aging of bills payable at the end of reporting period FENEENREBKRNER A —F

falls within 1 year. A e
At 31 December 2018, bills payables were secured by
pledged bank deposits of RMB89,900,000 (2017:
RMB23,376,000).

W-ZE—-NE+-_A=+—8 &
NEEREERBRITERARE
89,900,000 L(ZF—+tF : AR®
23,376,000 7T ) YEH I o

An aging analysis of the trade payables at the end of the
reporting period, based on invoice dates, is as follows:

BHRNRERBSHRRER
HI2 5| 2 BREe AT I T

2018 2017

—E-NF —ZT—tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARET T

(Restated)

($eE5))

Within 1 year 19FR 1,187,775 1,753,788
Over 1 year BiE1E 1,555,690 849,205
2,743,465 2,602,993
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &Z_FT—\F+_A=1+—HBILFE

31. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 31. BErEAREMEN IR

2018 2017

—E-NE —ZT—+F

RMB'000 RMB‘000

AR®T R ARET T

(Restated)

(geE75)

Accruals JEFtE R 467,751 24,704

Advances from third parties FE=TBR 1,128,200 722,270

Deposits related to construction BEEIES 205,591 388,316

Deposits related to sale of properties ¥ &R S 20,867 516,795

Maintenance funds HIEES 137,271 100,222

Others EHAth 59,535 71,856

Payroll and welfare payable JEf T & KM A&F| 10,272 15,744
Rental collection on behalf of REF=ZFWENHES

third parties 117,567 96,297

Rental deposits HeEd 38,675 61,482

Taxes and surcharges RS hRIlE= 693,377 85,096

2,879,106 2,082,782

Other payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
repayable on demand. The fair values of other payables at
the end of the reporting period approximated to their
corresponding carrying amounts.

Hib BN RIBARERA - TFTE
HARERER HEMEMNREAR
HEHRRO A FEELBENOKE
BHEE -
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mEMBERERMET @

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&Z_FT—\F+_A=1+—HBILFE

32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

32. ENEE

Disclosures of revenue-related items: W AKERETE B # 55 -
As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 1 January
2018 2017 2017
R-B-N\F RZT—tF KRITHF
t=ZA=+—-H +=-A=1+—H —A—8
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT AR®TT AR®BTR
(Restated) (Restated)
(=5) (& =7)
Total Contract liabilities BREEERE 3,223,044 3,443,466 2,899,039
Transaction prices allocated to RERDECEREK
performance obligations BAE (EI TR
unsatisfied at end of year RUATFERRR
and expected to be WAZZHE
recognised as revenue in:
-2018 -—E-)N\F - 2,778,294
-2019 -—E-NF 622,393 622,393
-2020 Sl Sy S 728,212 535,416
- 2021 - T 895,939 -
-2022 Bkl = 1,422,025 -
3,668,569 3,936,013
2018 2017
—B-NF —ZT—+F
Year ended 31 December RMB'000 RMB‘000
BE+t-A=+—HLEFE AR®TR AR®BTT
Revenue recognised in the year that REHTAELHBEEZ
was included in contract liabilities FNRERUA
at beginning of year 2,778,294 1,745,611
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &Z_FT—\F+_A=1+—HBILFE

32. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 32. EHEEBE®
Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year: FRNEHNEEZEREE
2018 2017
—BE-NF —T—+tF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTTT
Increase due to operations in the year & A 2 18 M N 3,331,305 3,549,676
Increase due to acquisition FANAWEE—RHB QA
of a subsidiary in the year [okz=pult = 1,284,517
Decrease due to disposals HEM B AR MR
of subsidiaries (773,433) (1,117,719)
Transfer of contract liabilities ERSHNBERZRA
to revenue (2,778,294) (3,172,047)
A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to EHEERASERKREFKE
transfer products or services to a customer for which the MAEEERIRETEFPZEIE -

Group has received consideration from the customer.
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—AN = .
meEMBHmRME @
For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&Z—_F—N\F+-A=+—HIFE
33. BORROWINGS 33. BE
2018 2017
—E-N\E —+4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARET T
(Restated)
(&E=75)
Bank loans — secured BRI ITER 2,644,866 4,536,392
Other loans — secured B FRE A f‘f?)\ 461,022 600,000
Trust financing — secured HIEFE=TmE 591,573 468,327
3,697,460 5,604,719
The borrowings are repayable EEARN T EEREE
as follows:
On demand or within one year RESRKS—FR 2,472,558 3,244,992
In the second year F_F 592,400 984,190
In the third to fifth years, inclus